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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —=E=E—_— —E-—F ZEEF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FEIT FET FET

Results E4
Year ended BEZE=RA=+—H

31 March LEE
Profit/(loss) R RHEB AES

attributable to wm A (&)

owners of the

Company 30,366 8,021 (13,347) (37,309) (18,871)
Assets and EERARE

liabilities
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Total assets BEBE 4,289,096 1,958,318 1,896,678 559,255 337,114
Total liabilities BiE@sE (3,247,574) (1,357,946) (1,334,566)  (430,493)  (245,158)
Total equity AT 1,041,522 600,372 562,112 128,762 91,956

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE®EEKRAR QA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Financial Review
Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$650.8 million compared
to approximately HK$256.9 million from continuing
operations for the last financial year, representing
an increase of about 153.3%, and profit for the year
ended 31 March 2023 of approximately HK$79.1 million
compared to approximately a profit of HK$15.7 million
for the last financial year, representing an increase of
profit of about 403.8%. The significant increase in profit
was primarily resulted from 1) implementation of various
measures on cost control and on reduction expenditures;
and 2) recognition on revenue of property development
business during the year.

Business Review
Property sub-leasing and investment business

For the year ended 31 March 2023, this business
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$51.8
million compared to approximately HK$80.2 million for
the last financial year, representing a decrease of about
35.4%, this business segment recorded loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 of approximately HK$10.3 million
as compared to profit of approximately HK$15.4 million
for the last financial year. The increase in loss was
mainly resulted from the increase in fair value loss on
investment properties.

The Board considers that the fair value loss on
investment properties are non-cash items and has no
effect on the cash flow of the Group's operations.

REBEERAR
HHERE
RS

HE-_Z-_ZFZA=Z+—HILEFE K&
B £315 W 2549 650,800,000 8 7T + & —1{E84
I £F T2 2K B 15 48 48 & ¥ 7 49256,900,000 78
TTIENNL)153.3% @ REFENEE-_T-_=F=
A=+—HBIEFEHEEF479,100,000%
JC - B E— B8 EFE 2% 415,700,000
7 7T % A 12 N 49403.8% o i ) A I8 1 0 Jh
FTEHAREBEHRESERAZES REERAE
B R2)RARFEYHEERFEBREHER o

¥ ERE

VIEFNE S EL 3
HE-_ZT_ZF=-A=Z+—HLEFEE" K
75 815 R 451,800,000 7T ¢ 8
£ — {8 B B F JZ 4780,200,000 7 7T R 4 49
354%  REBEEZE-ZE-_=F=A=+—HIt
FE - ZEBHEHFEEL10,300,000%8
7T v T _E— BB E 814508 F1 49 15,400,000
B BRENEZEHREENELNFEE
FTEE £ B 1B I INFT BN

EXERR WEVMENAFEEEBEERE

RAeBEE  BAKEELZNRSREL EF
@,

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =



EERENWE DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Property development business

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the property
development business in the PRC contributed revenue
of approximately HK$598.9 million compare to
approximately HK$176.7 million for the last financial year,
and segment recorded profit of approximately HK$143.6
million (2022: profit of approximately HK$20.5 million)
to the Group. The increase in segment revenue was
attributable to the increase of booked gross floor area
("GFA") delivered to the property owners during the
year, which was contributed from the Group’'s completed
property development projects, namely, Tangshang
Hanlin Mansion* (R #/E)in Dongguan land situates
at Caole Village, Xiegang Town, Dongguan City, the PRC
designated for urban residential use and business service
use (R2 Class Il residential land (R2 —3E/F{FA#1)). The
construction of the property was completed in December
2021, As at 31 March 2023, there were approximately
56,010 sg.m. booked GFA delivered and recognised
into the revenue. The completed properties are held for
sale and the management expects part of the remaining
GFA will recognise in the next financial year. The Group
will remain proactive in reviewing its pace of business
expansion. During this year, the Group had acquired
the total issued share capital of Reach Glory Holdings
Limited, a company is indirectly hold 70% equity
interest in the project company Puning Huachuangwen
Industrial Development Co., Ltd., which is expected to
maintain this business and achieve sustainable growth
of the Group, the management may adjust its project
development plans and schedules in response to
changing market conditions, as and when appropriate.

Financial Services Business
Money lending

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no interest
income was recognised (2022: nil). The management
would continue to find new opportunity for this segment.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Financial Services Business (Continued)
Securities, futures and asset management

The Group returned its Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) licenses to
Securities and Futures Commission in November 2020 as
no suitable business opportunities have been identified.
The management would like to focus more on the other
business segments of the Group.

IMPACT OF COVID-19

The Group has been faring well managing the impact
of COVID-19 pandemic to our employees and our
operations in the office. As part of the COVID-19
countermeasures and to prevent the spread of the virus,
the Group complied strictly with the disease prevention
regulations as required by the government, and stringent
infection preventive measures were implemented to
protect our employees. The Group’s human resources
department provided information to employees as much
as possible so that they understood the pandemic
and the related prevention methods in the office. The
Group closely monitors the health of the employees by
the arrangement of intensive cleaning and disinfection
fogging service in the office and common area and
daily frequent clean up by diluted bleach, as well as by
providing sufficient alcohol-based hand rub, gloves, and
medical supplies. The Group also implements flexible
working hour arrangement and work from home policy to
reduce the risk of commute, monitoring and maintaining
low attendance ratio in office, seating arrangement
to promote social distancing, and encouraging virtual
business meetings to minimise the spread of the
pandemic. Employees were advised to wear masks at all
times and keep good personal hygiene and to avoid close
or physical contact in the office.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Outlook

In light of the relaxation and lifting of the restrictions and
measures on the novel coronavirus (the "COVID-19")
pandemic in the PRC since November 2022, business
activities in the PRC have gradually resumed. The
Group will continue to assess the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’'s operations and
financial performance, and closely monitor the Group's
exposure to the risks in connection with the COVID-19
pandemic on an ongoing basis. The property market
has experienced a rapid decline and the industry is
facing enormous challenges. The government aims to
maintain healthy and stable development of the real
estate industry, stabilize land prices, housing prices
and market expectations The Group has put forward
higher requirements to review and perform in terms
of its future strategy planning during the period ended
31 March 2023. Despite tremendous uncertainties,
the Directors of the Group have implemented various
appropriate measures to lower the cost which improve
the performance of the Group. The Board is expecting
the management to remain cautious, meanwhile, to
also maintain open-minded in identifying new property
development projects in the PRC which could strengthen
the financial profitability for the Group.

The management team and the Board of Directors are
made up of highly qualified and competent individuals
who are experienced in the real estate development
industry in PRC. The team possesses significant
knowledge, resources and networks in China of which
the Company expects to be able to leverage for its future
growth in the property development, property sub-leasing
and investment projects in the PRC.

The Group has continued its efforts to consolidate and
realign its businesses to enable the Group to achieve
improvements in its financial position and to meet its
performance objectives. The Group is working towards
attaining a sustainable growth whilst continuously
exploring and diversifying other suitable investment
opportunities (if any) to enhance the overall earning
potential, and ultimately maximising the shareholder
value.
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The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
current and continuing principal activities of the Group
are mainly engaging in (i) property sub-leasing and
investment business, (ii) property development; and (iii)
money lending business. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance for the year
under review by business segment is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by pursuing

the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) investing in
more property sub-leasing and investments projects in
China; (ii) further diversifying the business of the Group

by tapping into the property development business; and
(iii) closely monitoring the cost and continue to impose
cost-cutting measures in the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and "Financial Review" in this report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

EETEHES
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ARAEZZ2IEBESERAKEEHBEE-F
TEFZA=tT-RUEFEZEEREREY
B#wE -

FTEXRK
ARFA—HRERBRAR - AEBEHR
BEXZEDANNESTARRELY m

WREBR R HEXRS - L Z2WEL
ZEBENFREMEHRRMET 44

AEEREBEFENREGOBE D 2 X8
DITER AR A B S MRMIFES ©

E 3 3C1)

AEEZXGEEREREXGEREX
ﬁ“*ﬁ‘?iiti*ﬁ c BBETMIRER/ARZR

CAKERTEINEHEEF  (IRFER
ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%ﬂ&&ﬁlﬁﬁ CiEBERY
XRREGUNE-—FTZTMAEB 2R

K (i) B ) BE SR A AN A 4B B e AN SR B R K
A2 FE M o

AEERBUBEEZFAXE DAL
SERKEBERZGWENARSEEE
afam e AT | e [ B #5 [ R J 6 -

FEREBRTEEM

AEBEZHBAN - BEXE - ZHERATR
AeEXZHEREBREIEEETE - LT AA
’EIE%%UZIRJ—L RAWEFEM o BRIATA

AEIN - ATERBTRANKEMMKEAIKE
ﬁTEKﬁTﬁ%E@%X%EKZEWJW&
THETENE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =



10

EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the Group
operates are subject to changes in consumer perception,
preferences and tastes, in particular, for the property
sub-leasing and investment business and the property
development business. The Group’s business and
financial performance depends on factors which may
affect the level and pattern of consumer spending in
China and in Hong Kong.

Market Risk

The business and operation of certain business segments
of the Group, in particular, property sub-leasing and
investment business and property development business,
are basically conducted in the PRC, and therefore the
Group's operation, revenue and profit margin are highly
impacting by the economies of the PRC and the measures
implemented by the PRC government. Any changes
of the measures may penetrate into overall national
economic conditions, and influence changes in consumer
confidence, consumption spending and preferences
in property sub-leasing and investment and property
development market in the PRC.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every
function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated
completely and that it may not always be cost effective
to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework.
The Group will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time and report such risk issues
to senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts,
lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise
negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of
the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 81 to 82.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023
(2022: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion
of the Group's business and to capture investment
opportunities arising in the future. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year under review are set out in
notes 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year under review are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 86
and note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company
as at 31 March 2023 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had
entered into certain transactions with parties which
were regarded as “Related Parties” under the applicable
accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transaction which is considered
as a connected transaction under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) is further disclosed in the section
headed “Connected Transactions” below.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (the “Bye-laws"”) and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4 of the annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for
the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 4(m) to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) on 30 August 2012
under which the Directors may grant options to eligible
persons, including directors and employees of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the
purposes of attracting and retaining quality
personnel and other persons to provide incentive to
them to contribute to the business and operation of
the Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors may at their discretion grant options
to (i) any director, employee or consultant of the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate"); or (i) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
or (iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose
service to the Group or business with the Group
contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERBERAR

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of the
number of issued shares as at the date of this
report

The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme was in aggregate 27,942,462
shares as at 31 March 2023 (representing
approximately 0.8% of the number of issued shares
as at the date of this report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of the shares of the
Company (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme to any one grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the options must
be exercised under Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares

The holder of an option may subscribe for the
shares of the Company during such period as
may be determined by the Directors (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of grant of
the relevant option and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option
granted must be held before it can be exercised
unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

The period within which the options granted
must be taken up

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of, and from the date of grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

Options may be granted without any initial payment
for the options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company; (i) the closing price per share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day; and (iii) the
average closing price per share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from 30 August
2012.

Details of the Share Option Scheme, including grant

and lapse of options, are disclosed in note 34 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Houjie

Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (Acting Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Youchun

Ms. Lui Mei Ka

Mr. Zhou Xin

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weiwu (“"Mr. WW Chen"), aged 40, is an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and a
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. He
is a business entrepreneur and has extensive experience
in the real estate industry. Mr. WW Chen is the chairman
and ultimate beneficial owner of It R AKLZHAIBEAR
/~\] (Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology and Estates
Limited*) (“BTIT"), a real estate development company
established in the PRC. Its latest property development
project is KE e A, located at HE A R L ME b =
4% 7% B i B %% [ (Beijing Economic and Technological
Development Area, PRC*), with a total land area of
approximately 130,000 square meters.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Houjie (“"Mr. HJ Zhou"), aged 41, is an
Executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. HJ Zhou was graduated
from 78/ 32 @ K2 (Southwest Jiaotong University*)
and obtained a professional degree in business
administration. He was appointed to the Board on 8
December 2016. Mr. HJ Zhou is currently the vice
president of BTIT.

Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 30, is an
Executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Jiang graduated from
Guangdong Police College with a bachelor degree in
law in 2015. He also obtained the Legal Professional
Qualification Certificate of People’s Republic of China in
2015 and Lawyer's Practice License in 2018. He was a
certified lawyer in Shanghai City Development (Shenzhen)
Law Firm. Mr. Jiang has extensive experience in
city renovation, real estate development, corporate
governance, and investment and financing operation.

ESEHEE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERSHREEE#®)
EEREREEBIERNE(2)

HITEFE(E)

FAREGEE(AE#LEE ] BFEO+—
B RARRATEERTFTMEZEENKE -
FEGREEEXENTEERIBAZ  TRET
BEREXEMN - RN _ZE—R"FT AN
AREZEMAESZE - BEALERK /X
ZHRIRIRE -

TEXZFEE(NIRE]D  RF=1TK" &K
AARITEERFMEEGKE - IIhAE
R-T-HFEXEREESR  LIBX
BESEN FTRIZ-AFIHEFREAR
HMBDERBEERBERR —_Z— \FH
BEMNER  TRLEBTRBORY) 2
EBFTAERA c TAEERUTER - Bt
ERE  RADRE  RBREEEFIEAR

88 = 4
BELR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =

1+



18

EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Youchun (“Mr. YC Chen”), aged 47, is an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. YC Chen joined the
Company on 8 December 2016. He was graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law in 2000
with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and the University
of Northumbria in 2011 with a degree in Bachelor of
Laws. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Civil and
Commercial Law from Wuhan University in 2007, and a
Ph.D in International Law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in 2018. He is a foreign lawyer
registered with The Law Society of Hong Kong and is a
partner in Shenzhen Office of Junzejun Law Offices. Mr.
YC Chen has extensive experience in corporate finance,
initial public offerings and mergers and acquisitions. Mr.
YC Chen is also an independent director of Michong
Metaverse China Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
08645.HK) and Nuode Investment Co., Ltd (stock code:
600110.SH), which is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Lui Mei Ka (“Ms. Lui”), aged 38, is an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee of the Company. Ms. Lui joined the Company
on 21 April 2017. She was graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor
of business administration in 2006. She is currently a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has extensive experience in financial
management and corporate finance. Ms. Lui is the
chief financial officer and company secretary of Feiyu
Technology International Company Limited (stock code:
1022), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Previously, she was the company secretary
and financial controller of LT Commercial Real Estate
Limited (stock code: 112) and the chief financial officer
and company secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock
code: 108), companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Xin (“Mr. X Zhou"”), aged 43, is an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
X Zhou joined the Company in 13 December 2019.
He graduated from school of law in Wuhan University
with a juris doctoral degree in criminal law. He also
obtained a post-doctoral degree from Renmin University
of China Law School (majoring in criminal litigation law,
the post-doctoral degree programme co-organised by
Renmin University of China Law School and National
Prosecutors College of P.R.C.) and EMBA degree from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He currently serves
as an associate professor in school of law at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies, a Yunshan Young Scholar,
a head of Intelligent Law and Law Reform Research
Centre* at Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, a
director of China Association of Criminal Procedure Law
and a researcher of Litigation System and Law Reform
Research Centre* of Renmin University of China. In
October 2003 and September 2006, Mr. X Zhou obtained
certifications of Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert in
Route and Switching and Service Provider respectively,
with a global uniform certification number CCIE#12384.

Mr. X Zhou is mainly engaged in researches on criminal
procedure law, evidence law, judicial system, digital
evidence, internet crime etc., teaches programmes
of criminal litigation law and legal work ethic for
undergraduates, and teaches programmes of frontier
problems of criminal litigation law, court prosecution and
defense skills, court simulation training and study of legal
work ethic for postgraduate students.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

He has published various articles in core journals of legal
science, including Social Science in China, China Legal
Science, Peking University Law Journal, Studies in Law
and Business, Science of Law, Law Review, Tribune
of Political Science and Law, Political Science and
Law, Contemporary Law Review, Academic Research,
Social Scientist and Legal Daily, many of which were
reproduced in Chinese Social Sciences Digest and
Reprinted In Information Center for Social Science
of Renmin University Of China (procedural law and
judicial system), and nominated in the Sixth Dong Biwu
Achievement Award for Young Jurists.

Senior management

Mr. Lin Yu Cheng (“Mr. Lin") was appointed as chief
financial officer of the Company on 20 August 2020.
Mr. Lin has extensive experience in fields such as
property development, accounting, management,
investment and financing operation. He obtained the
Bachelor of Commerce from the Guangdong College
of Commerce* (EREZPFL) in 1995, and obtained the
Master of Law from the Sun Yat-sen University ([l
AKE) in 2007. Mr. Lin is currently a senior accountant,
and also a PRC Certified Public Accountant, a PRC
Certified Tax Agent and a PRC Certified Public Valuer. He
was the deputy general manager of the Capital Market
Department of the Treasury Centre of Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007), and
the deputy general manager of Financing and Financial
Management Centre of Sinic Holdings (Group) Company
Limited (stock code: 2103).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Senior management (Continued)

Ms. Kwong Oi Man Patty (“Ms. Kwong”) was appointed
as company secretary of the Company on 31 March
2021 under Rule 3.05 of the Rule Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).
Ms. Kwong holds a bachelor's degree of Commerce
from Monash University in Australia and she is currently
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia. She joined the Company
in April 2017 and is responsible for the Company's
financial reporting, financial management, investor
relations and corporate secretarial matters. Ms. Kwong
has over 14 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and company secretarial practice. Ms. Kwong is also a
joint company secretary of China Hongguang Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8646) and a company secretary
of Yik Wo International Holdings Limited (stock code:
8659), which are listed on the Gem Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board
or the senior management, and no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
company and any of their subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ right to acquire shares or debentures

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2023
was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ interests and short
positions in securities

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the ordinary shares, underlying share and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set forth under Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules were as follows:

(a) Long position in the shares

EENENEERE#)

EERIETHRAEBRESZZ2EERAXR

RZEZ=F=HA=+—H EFKEAAQH
FEBITHABRARQRSKETM AR ER(E
ERBAFRAEGRAI(ESREEHRGDE
XV &) Lk - MRREAR (D RIEREE R A o8k
ARIBEF REEROIEI2EREFEZ
o M sk ZBAR $8 T AR AU BT &% 1 P ek £ E
TAESETEFR G 2BEETA([BREST
Al DBTHEeARRRRBRMzERmRAR
Ul

(a) BRHOZHE

Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
held as at shareholding

31 March in the
Name of Director Nature of interest 2023 Company
N-ZBE=-=F HAEAT
=Z=A=t+—-8A%2 BEREZ
EEfE REmE RGO EAE BABES T
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Note) Beneficial owner 1,405,848,000 41.01%
BRIE I A (et ) EnlEAA
Interest of controlled corporation 579,806,977 16.91%
VT HIEE S (Note)
(B15t)
Note: Bt

These shares are owned by Grand Nice International
Limited (“Grand Nice"”) which is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Chen. By virtue of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO"), Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested
in an aggregate of 1,985,654,977 Shares, representing
approximately 57.92% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ interests and short
positions in securities (Continued)

(b) Underlying shares of the Company

Details of the Directors’ interest in share options
are disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2023,
none of the Director and the chief executives of
the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which
were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they were deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or (iii) which were otherwise required to notify the
Company or the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements in relation controlling shareholder of the
Company to the Group and the transactions set out
under sections headed "Related Party Transactions” and
“Acquisition of subsidiaries” and disclosed in note 29
to the consolidated financial statement, there was no
contract of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the year
or at any time during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, other than the interests of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company
disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ interests and short positions in shares”
above, the following persons had interests or short
position in the shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

FERR

RIE-_=F=ZA=1+—H8 BKEX[EER
TRITBRABRKRMD 2w AR | —BATH
BEERARAEBTRAB ZEZHIN
RIBARRILZ SRR RPIF 336 1R 2R E
FEZEBECMAEE AT ALTRERN
SARBER D PHEBERIOAER

Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
as at shareholding
Name of shareholder Nature of interest 31 March 2023 in the Company
R=-®Z= EARRAH
=A=+-—H BREZ
RREHE EEMtE ZHERGEE BAES L
Grand Nice International Limited Beneficial owner 579,806,977 16.91%
(“Grand Nice") (Note 1)
ERBERAERAG([EB]) (A1) EnEBA
Jiang Dingwei (Note 2) Interest of controlled 585,600,000 17.08%
corporation
LB (AT 2) TGRS
Shenzhen Tangshang Industrial Group Interest of controlled 585,600,000 17.08%
Co., Ltd (Note 2) corporation
R TEEBEEEBERAR(H7F2) XGRS
Shenzhen Yaoling Investment Company Beneficial owner 585,600,000 17.08%

Limited (Note 2)
R TREREGR AR (MEE2)

EmBEEA

Notes:

1.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Grand Nice is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Weiwu who is an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Company.

Shenzhen Yaoling Investment Company Limited is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Tangshang Industrial
Group Co., Ltd, which is 60% owned by Mr. Jiang
Dingwei. It had issued and allotted 450,000,000 shares
of the Company by HK$0.2 per share for the Acquisition.
It had exercised the conversion rights attached to the
convertible bonds in the principal sum of HK$27,120,000
issued on 6 July 2022. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 18 July 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, according
to the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, or trusts. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental
protection and energy conservation to enhance the
capacity of sustainable development and undertake
relative social responsibility. Through the establishment
of an ever-improving management system, energy
conservation and environment protection were strongly
promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental,
Social and Governance Report under Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers
and business partners are the key to have continuous
sustainable development. The Company is committed to
be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced. The
Group also values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
The Group also works together with its business partners
to provide high quality products and services to achieve
the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its distributors
and/or customers during the year under review.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregated sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 6% while the largest
customer accounted for approximately 2% of its total
revenue.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 16% while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 14% of its total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the year as disclosed
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transaction under the Listing
Rules, which are required to be disclosed in this report
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such connected transaction (as defined under
the Listing Rules) are set out below in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules:

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group, as
lessee, entered into several Leases Contracts (“Lease
Contracts 2020") with Beijing Tian’an Innovation
technology and Estates Limited* ({t IR AKZRIBIEEER
A®"]) ("BTIT"), as landlord, a connected person of the
Group. 100% equity interest in BTIT is indirectly held
by Mr. Chen Weiwu, Mr. Chen Weiwu is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms
of the Lease Contracts 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Property:

Lease term:

Rental:

Rental deposit:

Other expenses:

Use of the
Property:

Condition:

Sublet:

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED FElEHZEkA R 2

Building 15, Building 32, Building 38,
Building 41, Building 54, Building 62
and Building 63

10 years

Ranging from RMB1.51 to RMB1.69
per sg.m. per day for the first year.
Such rental rates will be increased
by 3% for each year thereafter. The
rent shall be pre-paid by Beijing
Mingchuang to BTIT on a quarterly
basis.

Beijing Mingchuang shall pay a
deposit equivalent to 90-day rental
to BTIT not later than three working
days before the commencement of
the lease term.

After the lease term expires or the
contract is terminated, if there is
damage to the leased property,
ancillary equipment and facilities, and
the items in the handover receipt
of the Property, BTIT has the right
to deduct the corresponding repair
expense for the damaged part from
the rental deposit.

The tenants shall be responsible for
the utility’s charges, air-conditioning
charges, water charges and
renovation service fees (if any).

Research centers and ancillary offices

The transactions contemplated
under the Lease Contracts are
subject to the obtaining of approval
of the Independent Shareholders
in accordance with the applicable
regulations (including the Listing
Rules) by the Company.

Beijing Mingchuang may sublet the
Property provided that the consent of
BTIT is obtained.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
27 December 2019 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 February 2020 for further details.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group, as
lessee, entered into several Leases Contracts (“Lease
Contracts 2021") with Beijing Tian'an Innovation
Technology and Estates Limited* ({t R KXZHRIEIBEXH
R A A )("BTIT")
the Group. 100% equity interest in BTIT is indirectly
held by Mr. Chen Weiwu, Mr. Chen Weiwu is therefore
a connected person of the Company under the Listing

), as landlord, a connected person of

Rules. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms
of the Lease Contracts 2022.

The Property: Building 52, Building 58, Building 59,

Building 60, Building 61 and Building 69
Lease term: Ranging from 10 years to 16 years
Rental: From RMB1.5 to RMB5.05 per sg.m.
per day for the first year. Such rental
rates will be increased by 3% for
each year thereafter. The rent shall
be pre-paid by Beijing Mingchuang to
BTIT on a quarterly basis.
Rental deposit: Beijing Mingchuang shall pay a
deposit equivalent to 90-day rental
to BTIT not later than three working
days before the commencement
of the lease term. After the lease
term expires or the contract is
terminated, if there is damage to the
leased property, ancillary equipment
and facilities, and the items in the
handover receipt of the Property,
BTIT has the right to deduct the
corresponding repair expense for
the damaged part from the rental
deposit.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Other expenses: The lessee shall pay management

fee to landlord.

Use of the
Property:

Research centers, ancillary offices
and others.

Condition: The transactions contemplated
under the Lease Contracts are
subject to the obtaining of approval
of the Independent Shareholders
in accordance with the applicable
regulations (including the Listing

Rules) by the Company.

Sublet: Beijing Mingchuang may sublet the

Property provided that the consent of
BTIT is obtained.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
11 December 2020 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 January 2021 for further details.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, total rental paid
or payable by the Group under the Lease Contracts
amounted to RMB59,816,000.

On 31 October 2022, the Company entered into the
Equity Sale and Purchase Agreement with Mr. Chen
Weiwu (“Mr. Chen”), pursuant to which the Company
had agreed conditionally to acquire, and Mr. Chen
had agreed conditionally to sell, the Sale Shares at
the Consideration of RMB315,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$355,950,000). The Consideration shall be settled
by way of (i) the issue and allotment of 534,000,000
Consideration Shares at an issue price of HK$0.2
per Consideration Share, resulting in the total value
of the Consideration Shares being HK$106,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB94,513,274) and (ii)
the issue of Convertible Bonds in the principal amount
of HK$249,150,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB220,486,726).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As at 31 October 2022, Mr. Chen, being the executive
Director of the Company, was interested in approximately
50.15% of the shares of the Company. Mr. Chen was the
controlling shareholder and therefore a connected person
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Acquisition also constituted a connected
transaction of the Company and was subject to the
reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
31 October 2022 and the circular of the Company dated
20 January 2023 for further details.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above,
the Group did not conduct any other non-exempt
connected transaction or any continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed a total
number of 47 (2021: 53) employees. The remuneration
of the employees of the Group is amounted to
approximately HK$9.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$10.6 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are decided by the remuneration
committee of the Company, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Group periodically reviews its remuneration package
in order to attract, motivate and retain its employees.
Discretionary bonuses may be rewarded to the Directors
and employees depending on the Group's operating
results and their performance.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY (continued)

Further, the Company has also adopted a share option
scheme for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to any the Director, employee and other
eligible participant who made significant contribution
to the Group. The Group also provides external training
courses to its staff to improve their skills and services
on an ongoing basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy”). The Company considers stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders of the Company to be its
goal. According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter
alia:-

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(i) the Group’'s actual and future operations and
liquidity position;

(iii) the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level,
(v) the retained earnings and distributable reserves
of the Company and each of the members of the

Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation
and industry’'s norm;

(vii) the general market conditions; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and

the Company’'s articles of association and any other
applicable laws and regulations.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy
at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally
binding commitment by the Group in respect of its future
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's businesses except that Mr. Chen Weiwu is an
ultimate beneficiary owner of BTIT which is engaged in
construction, property development and related business
in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of BTIT, the
Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the above businesses.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Current assets

As at 31 March 2023, current assets primarily consist of
(i) completed properties held for sale; (ii) trade and other
receivables; and (iii) cash and cash equivalents. The
increase in current assets by approximately HK$2,400.4
million or 170.6% compared to last year was mainly
resulted from: (i) increase in completed properties held
for sale which is approximately HK$2,102.4 million or
251.2% compared to last year due to the acquisition of
the total issued share capital of Reach Glory Holdings
Limited, a company is indirectly hold 70% equity interest
in the Project Company Puning Huachuangwen Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., which had completed the project
in December 2022; (ii) increase in trade and other
receivables approximately HK$91.5 million or 30.7%
compared to last year was mainly due to the increase
in deposits, prepayments and other receivables; and (iii)
increase in cash and cash equivalents by approximately
HK$220.4 million or 114.3% compared to last year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Non-current assets

As at 31 March 2023, non-current assets primarily
consist of investment properties and finance lease
receivables. The decrease in investment properties by
approximately HK$33.3 million or 11.9% compared to
last year and the decrease in finance lease receivables
by approximately HK$34.8 million or 13.1%, due to lease
payment of lease contracts during the year.

Current liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, current liabilities primarily consist
of (i) trade and other payables; (ii) contract liabilities;
(iii) amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and (iv) lease liabilities. The increase in
current liabilities by approximately HK$1,514.6 million
or 173.0% compared to last year was mainly resulted
from: (i) increase in contract liabilities by approximately
HK$1,418.3 million or 244.6% compared to last year
was mainly because of the increase in deposits
and instalments received on properties in Puning
Huachuangwen Industrial Development Co., Ltd. (ii)
no bank borrowings for the property development
business during this year; (iii) increase in lease liabilities
by approximately HK$4.9 million or 8.5% compared to
last year; and (iv) increase in trade and other payables
by approximately 205.0 million or 199.6% due to the
construction contract not yet settled in Puning, PRC.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2023, no bank borrowings were incurred
by the Group (2022: bank borrowings of approximately
HK$99.2 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’'s bank borrowings is
set out as follows:
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The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank borrowings
were denominated in RMB. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group’'s bank borrowings was nil (2022: 7.24% per
annum).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2022 were not applicable (since the Group
maintained net cash position as at 31 March 2023). The
Directors consider the Group as in a healthy financial
position. Such ratio was calculated with reference to the
bank borrowings deduction of cash and bank balances
over the Company’s equity attributable to owners of
the Company. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net
current assets of approximately HK$1,417.0 million as
compared with the net current assets as at 31 March
2022 of approximately HK$531.3 million. The current ratio
of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was 1.6 compared
with 1.6 as at 31 March 2022.

The revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, matches the currency
requirement of the Group's expenses while other foreign
currencies were immaterial. During the year ended 31
March 2023, no financial instrument was entered into by
the Group used for hedging purpose. The Group was not
exposed to any exchange rate risk or any related hedges.

FTEAREBRITEEZRABNIAARE
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RIBRAFARR - ZLELETDELERITEE
MBRERVITERBRURREHEE AR
HARRBIZ A EREH RZTZ=F
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Fund raising activities

In previous years, the Group completed the following
fund raising exercise to strengthen its financial position
and raised the gross proceeds of approximately HK$42.0
million, with the net proceeds of approximately HK$41.8
million after deduction of issuance expenses. Details of
which are set out as follows:

Bt RSB BE (&)

EEEE

RBEFE  AEEBXKNATEEETD
NI HBM R R EESBRBREY
42,000,000 7T MAAMBRETRZE - AT
B RIEFFEL) A 41,800,000 70 - EFIEH
T

Amount of
Amount of Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds Brought Expected
Brought Forward to timeline/
Forward to the Amount the year Amount Amount of  Intended use
Date of Description of fund yearending  utilizedupto ended 31 March utilized up to unutilized  of unutilized
announcement  raising activities Intended Use of Proceeds 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 2023 31 March 2023 proceeds proceeds
FEzEE gEzEs
. Jutat 2 §2 Z82zEZf 8z
St-ALEE  CE-CEZR C-ALFE CE0cE RERER/
L&A Z1-R LfERE ZA=t-H HABR  HAERAE
MRS RERBIER figREcRERR FESE  (DERLE FECE  LCHRGE  MRHEceE  REHERE
31 August 2018 Issue of convertible bonds in an Mongy lending business HK$27.2 million  HK$27.2 million il il il N/A
aggregate principal amount of of the Group in Hong
HK§42,031,080, which has been Kong: approximately
converted into ordinary shares of HK$27.2 millon (as per
the Company on the announcement of the
30 July 2020 Company dated 25 August
2021, the use of proceeds
have been reallocated to
general working capital
TE-NE O BABRSMERO00ELZTE  AEEREEZ 210000087 27,200000%7 z £ z ki

MZT-8  REs EBR-E-ERLACT MEER:

BEERATLE E8k 12720000057
(FEANABEE-F
—-ENBCTRAZA
i fE5ERREER
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Fund raising activities (Continued)

In 2017, convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$46.3 million were issued,
with the net proceeds of approximately HK$46.1 million
after deduction of issuance expenses. Details of which
are set out as follows:
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RZE—+EF BEETASRENE
46,300,000 % 7T 2 AT A AR (B 25 - i 48 40 FR 25
TR % - FT1SFIBF REA) /A 46,100,000 74
TT e BEAFEHIWT

Amount of
Amount of Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds Brought Expected
Brought Forward to timeline/
Forward to the Amount the year Amount Amount of  Intended use
Date of Description of fund yearending  utilizedupto ended 31 March utilized up to unutilized  of unutilized
announcement  raising activities Intended Use of Proceeds 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 2023 31 March 2023 proceeds proceeds
gEzgE 4EEEE
Z§IEZf B2 -82zEzf Bz
St-BLEE  ZRIIESR C-BLFE C3oEE RERER/
2fERE Z1-A fERE  ZR=t-R WABA  HAERAE
MRS RERBER feREZRERR FEE  .0EReR FESE  CHAGE  FRMEceE  REzEERR
General working capital of nil nil il il il N/A
the Group: approximately
HKS14.6 million
F5E, 5 e H H z TR
-HEEES 4
14,600,000 70
26 July 2017 Issue of convertible bonds in an Potential acquisition (Note 1) nil il il il il N/A
aggregate principal amount of approximately HK$32.1
HK$46,341,980, which has been million
converted into ordinary shares of
the Company on
30 July 2020
ZE-tE BfiReBERMMNATITE  BENEIEE)) z z z £ z TR
tAIHRR RER EERCECEECAST  H10100000%T
REEARALT ERR
General working capital of nil il il il il N/A
the Group: approximately
HK$14.0 million
KEEy z g z z z TR
~EREE 6
14,000,000 7T
Note 1: BiatT -

The proceeds of approximately HK$32.1 million was utilized to

settle the consideration of an acquisition in July 2020.

FT{S5kI8#132,100,000 B TER - T -ZF L AM
R EBRE -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Charges

As at 31 March 2023, no bank borrowings were incurred
by the Group and no charges and guarantees were
secured.

As at 31 March 2022, certain bank borrowings of the
Group in the total amount of approximately HK$99.2
million were secured by i) corporate guarantees provided
by related companies of a non-controlling shareholder,
and a subsidiary of the Group; ii) personal guarantees
provided by Mr. Chen Weiwu, the director of the Group
and his spouse; iii) entire equity interest of a subsidiary
of the Group; and iv) completed properties held for sale
of the Group with carrying amounts of HK$837.0 million.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
other charges on assets as at 31 March 2023.

Contingent liabilities

Please refer to note 40 of this announcement for material
contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2023.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

Reference is made to the announcement of the
Company’s announcement dated 31 October 2022
and circular (the “Circular”) dated 20 January 2023
regarding the very substantial acquisition and connected
transaction in relation to the acquisition of the Target
Group, as well as the announcement of the Company
dated 16 February 2023 regarding the poll results of
the special general meeting held on 16 February 2023.
Capitalised terms used in this report shall have the same
meanings as defined in the Circular unless the context
requires otherwise.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

On 31 October 2022, the Company entered into the
Equity Sale and Purchase Agreement with Mr. Chen,
pursuant to which the Company has agreed conditionally
to acquire, and Mr. Chen has agreed conditionally to sell
the total issued share capital in Reach Glory Holdings
Limited (the "Aecquisition”). Upon the completion
of the Acquisition on 10 March 2023, the Company
indirectly wholly holds 70% of the equity interest in
the Puning Huachuangwen Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd* (EEBHEEIXEEMEBR A F)through Reach Glory
Holdings Limited. The Consideration has been settled
by way of (i) the issue and allotment of 534,000,000
Consideration Shares at an issue price of HK$0.2
per Consideration Share, resulting in the total value
of the Consideration Shares being HK$106,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB94,513,274) and (ii)
the issue of Convertible Bonds in the principal amount
of HK$249,150,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB220,486,726).

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 30 July 2021 and circular dated 30 September
2021 in relation to, among other things, a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction.
Capitalised terms used under this sub-heading shall
have the same meaning as in the said report and circular
unless otherwise defined in this report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

On 30 July 2021, the Company entered into the equity
sale and purchase agreement (the "Equity Sale
and Purchase Agreement”) with Shenzhen Yaoling
Investment Company Limited* G J| TR EHR E AR
‘A @ )("Shenzhen Yaoling”) to acquire 55% equity
interest of Dongguan Huachuangwen Land Limited* (&
EHEA N EM AR A A) (“Huachuangwen Land”) (the
“Acquisition”). Upon the completion of the Acquisition,
the Company will hold 90% of the equity interest in
Huachuangwen Land and the financial statements of
Huachuangwen Land will continue to be consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The consideration shall be settled by way of (i)
cash of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$48,000,000); (ii) issue and allotment of 450,000,000
shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.2
per share, resulting in a total value of HK$90,000,000
of shares and (iii) issue of convertible bonds of the
Company in the principal amount of HK$27,120,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB22,600,000). Details
of the Acquisition were disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 30 July 2021 and the Company’s
circular dated 30 September 2021.

Subsequently, the Acquisition was approved at the
special general meeting of the Company on 20 October
2021. On 29 October 2021, the Company announced that
as additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent to the Equity Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Company and Shenzhen Yaoling agreed
in writing to extend the long stop date from 31 October
2021 to 31 December 2021 (or such other date as the
parties may agree in writing).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

On 31 December 2021, the Company announced that
additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent to the Equity Sale and Purchase
Agreement the Company and Shenzhen Yaoling agreed in
writing to extend the Long Stop Date from 31 December
2021 to 31 January 2022 (or such other date as the
parties may agree in writing). On 31 January 2022, the
Company announced that as additional time is required
for the fulfillment of the conditions precedent to the
Equity Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Company and
Shenzhen Yaoling agreed in writing to extend the long
stop date from 31 January 2022 to 31 March 2022 (or
such other date as the parties may agree in writing).

On 31 March 2022, the Company announced that as
additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent to the Equity Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Company and Shenzhen Yaoling agreed
in writing to extend the long stop date from 31 March
2022 to 30 June 2022 (or such other date as the parties
may agree in writing).

On 6 July 2022, the Acquisition has been completed, the
Company holds 90% equity interest in Huachuangwen
Land, the Consideration Shares and Convertible Bonds
were issued to Shenzhen Yaoling in settlement of
the Consideration pursuant to the Equity Sale and
Purchasing Agreement. On 18 July 2022, the Company
received a conversion notice from Shenzhen Yaoling
for exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
Convertible Bonds in respect of the entire principal
amount of HK$27,120,000 at conversion price of HK$0.2
per conversion share, a total number of 135,600,000
conversion share shall be issued to Shenzhen Yaoling.
For further details, please refer to the Company’'s
announcement dated 6 July 2022 and 18 July 2022,
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company and senior management of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in notes 11 and 37(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float in accordance with
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2023 and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have
been audited by CCTH CPA Limited which will retire and
being eligible, after themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chen Weiwu
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
*  For identification only
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED AERERERA A
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals.
The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
has complied with all the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except for the code
provision A.1.1 of the CG Code below:

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly internals. Although only two
regular Board meetings were held during the year, the
Board considered that sufficient meetings had been held
as business operations were under the management
and the supervision of the executive Directors. In
addition, senior management of the Group provided to
the Directors the information in respect of the Group's
business development and activities from time to time
and, when required, ad hoc Board meetings will be held.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group's business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibility for decision making in all
major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, the entering
into material transactions, appointment of Directors,
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and other significant financial
and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior executives and the management.
Their responsibilities include the implementation of
decisions made by the Board, the co-ordination and
direction of day-to-day operation and management of the
Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board. The Board receives
full support from senior executives to discharge its
responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained from
the Board before entering into any material transactions.
The statement of the auditors of the Company in relation
to their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 70 to 80 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five
Directors, including two Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Zhou Houjie and Mr.
Jiang Ruowenhao (Acting Chief Executive Officer) and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Chen Youchun, Ms. Lui Mei Ka and Mr. Zhou Xin.

One of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management
expertise. The number of Independent Non-executive
Directors is more than one-third of the Board.
Biographical details of the Chairman and other Directors
are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management” on pages 16 to 25 of this report.

The presence of three Independent Non-executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable
balance between Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance
can provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and of the Group. The
Independent Non-executive Directors provide to the
Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so
that independent judgment can be exercised effectively.
They have also participated in Board meetings and
general meetings, dealt with potential conflicts of
interest, served on Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
and scrutinised the Group’s performance and reporting.
Through their active participation, the management
process of the Company can be critically reviewed and
controlled.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their
field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards
of personal and professional ethics and integrity. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. Each Director shall disclosed to the
Company at the time of his/her appointment the positions
held in other listed companies or public organisation
and other significant commitment, and is required to
provide any change on such situation in a timely manner.
The Board believes that the ratio between Executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance
function over the Board in the decision making process.

The Board participates in the selection and approval of
new Director. Independent Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term. Under the Bye-laws, all
the Directors are required to retire and be re-selected by
rotation at least once every three years.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG Code,
an updated list of the Directors identifying their role and
function are available on the websites of the Company
(http://www.ts674.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.
hkex.com.hk). The Company will review the composition
of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise,
skill and experience to meet the needs of the Group's
business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment
of all the guidelines for assessing independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are identified
as such in all corporate communications containing the
names of the Directors. In addition, there is no material
relationship between Board members.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets at least four times a year,
approximately quarterly intervals. Directors attend
meetings in person or through other electronic means
of communication to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results,
annual results or other significant matters. Draft notice
and agenda for regular meetings are provided to all
Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for
deliberation at the meetings at least 14 days before the
meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior
management from time to time provides to the Directors
information on activities and development of the
business of the Group. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing agenda for the meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in
connection with the meetings are observed and complied
with. The agenda and Board papers are then sent to
all Directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting. The
Company Secretary also takes detailed minutes, keeps
records of matters discussed and decision resolved at
the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

During the year, details of the Directors’ attendance in
the following meetings are set out below:

EEgeERRREAREH)

REAR > EFHFEAT

SR ZABEINOT

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
g/ &/ &/ &/ &/ e/
RERLE RERILE REKILE RERILR RER G-
gzg Ehzeg EMzeg k%88 EERR HERR
3.8 g3 g3 g3 g3 BEAE KHXE
Executive Director
HEs
Mr. Chen Weiwu 202 - - 22 1 -
RERE
Mr. Zhou Houjie 33 - 22 - 7 i
BEfLE
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao 33 — — - mn n
LEXRRE
Independent Non-executive Director
BUkHES
Mr. Chen Youchun 2 22 22 22 n n
RRAERE
Ms. Lui Mei Ka 212 22 - - 1 N
ExENt
Mr. Zhou Xin 202 22 22 22 10 N
EFipk
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances, review the annual and
interim results, and make decisions on other significant
matters. The execution of daily operational matters is
delegated to the senior executives of the Group.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times and they may make further
enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The Company Secretary
also ensures that proper Board procedures are followed
and that all applicable laws and regulations are complied
with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate,
they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group's expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent Non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal
with such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and
procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special
general meetings of the Company are the primary
forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are
encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings on their behalves
if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
held its annual general meeting on 23 September 2022.
Details of major items discussed in the annual general
meeting are set out in the circulars of the Company
dated 19 August 2022.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business of the
Group. As such, the Group provides a comprehensive
and formal induction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are
provided so as to ensure that new Directors are familiar
with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor-made
for each Director taking into account their background
and expertise.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR

EEgeERRREAREH)

EXZ B0 (EHERZES FHEREER
RAZES)HCRMEFTESHR M IER
FRRER

ARBZBRBFREREMERAE I HE
HEREBBcEZYE  MEBRSH-
ARAHBEERREFERRAGHEZTIRN
KRELFEREIRNE LRE(NREREE
%) e

REBEE-_TE-_=F=ZA=+—BLFER"
RABRZEZZFNAZF+=HEITER
REFAE RERERBAFRAGETHN X
ZEAFBHENEAAGARAT_FN
A+hBZi@K -

BEEZ2BIIR<E

EREZ(BERELIFATESRT)LEARY
BREERETZHAREEUNRAEE 2%
BBt ARENBRMEZENESTE
ZERHERRFRHEZARERNEE I
SREBNERAFHNA - UERFESH
BEZEGZAE REFEREFTZEARRH
MBE URAKEZEBRERER - &%
S NREEREZTZE R NEEMHEM
RBRERFHE -



& EERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS (cContinued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional training so as to develop and refresh
directors’ knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors
participated in the following training:

EEZEIIRXE®)
HEMEREFSAREILEI UBRER

EREFCANBLEE UYERRREHES
SREFHANBREED ZER

KHE-F-=F=A=+—RLFER:
EFRLRTIIEY -

Type of training

Name of Director EEHE 3R
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chen Weiwu PRIZR LA A B
Mr. Zhou Houijie AEAE A A, B
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao TIENRLE

Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES

Mr. Chen Youchun fRARE LA A, B
Ms. Lui Mei Ka EEEZLT A B
Mr. Zhou Xin A& A, B

A. attending seminars, briefing sessions, conferences
and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating
to the economy and/or general business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and
thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the
number and nature of offices held by such Director in
public companies and organisations and other significant
commitments.

A HEHREE BNE - SEk LRE

B: MEAMKENR X—REBEHEZ
BE - HHREHREH
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of one
Executive Director and two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Youchun (Chairman), Mr
Jiang Ruowenhao and Mr. Zhou Xin.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board
regarding the overall remuneration policy, remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group,
share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund
and other compensation-related issues. This committee
consults with the Chairman and/or Chief Executive officer
on its proposals and recommendations and has access
to professional advice, if necessary. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is posted on the Company’s website. The
Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.

Pursuant to the extension of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which comes into effect on 1 January 2023, the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
amended and approved by the Board in December 2022.

To summarize, the work done by the Remuneration
Committee included the determination of the policy
for the remuneration of Executive Directors and the
assessment of the Executive Directors’ performance of
their service contracts.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date
version of written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of one Executive Director and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Youchun and Mr. Zhou Xin.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’'s corporate strategy, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board,
selecting individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is posted on the Company’s website. The
Nomination Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. This included
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship. The Nomination
Committee considered that an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date
version of the written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the Audit Committee are set out in
its specific terms of reference which is posted on the
Company’s website. The Audit Committee shall meet at
least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Youchun (Chairman), Ms. Lui Mei Ka and Mr. Zhou Xin.
No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the existing auditing firm of the Company within one
year on the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had
any financial interest in the auditing firm. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing
and financial reporting matters with the management
team of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee
held three meetings to review, among other things, the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2022, annual report for the year ended 31
March 2022. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes as well as the re-appointment of
the external auditor. There is no material uncertainty
relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. There is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Audit
committee and the Directors in respect of matter about
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by CCTH
CPA Limited, whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that CCTH
CPA Limited be nominated for appointment as the
auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Company Secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit
Committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings,
draft and final version of Audit Committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit
Committee for comments, approval and record as soon
as practicable after each meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits of the selected candidates and their contribution
to the Board. The Board considered the measurable
objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
professional experience and cultural and educational
background, and agreed that these measurable objectives
were achieved for the diversity of the Board which
contributed to the enhancement of corporate strategy
and the business development of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration
in respect of audit services provided by the auditors,
CCTH CPA Limited, amounted to HK$1,000,000
(2022: HK$1,000,000). For non-audit services included
professional services in respect of the interim financial
information of the Group for the six months ended
30 September 2022 and very substantial acquisition
and connected transaction, the services provided by
CCTH CPA Limited, amounted to HK$468,000 (2022:
HK$440,000).
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been
made with all Directors, who have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31 March 2023, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The auditor is
responsible to form an independent opinion on the
audited consolidated financial statements and report the
same to the shareholders of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for assisting
the Board by ensuring good information flow within
the Board members as well as the Board policy and
procedures being followed properly. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for organizing general
meetings of the Company and facilitating the induction
and professional development of the Directors. The
Biographical details of the Company Secretary is included
in the Biographical details of Directors and senior
management of the Directors’ Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions including but not
limited to:

° to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Company;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provision of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting
(Continued)

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities
to ensure that the consolidated financial statements on
annual and interim results of the Group are published in
a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 70 to 80.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for
maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems including a review on
their effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable
development of the Group. The risk management and
internal control systems, under a defined management
structure with limits of authority, are designed for the
Group to identify and manage the significant risks to
pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance
effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable
financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
achievement of the Group's business objectives and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board is responsible for the determination of the
Group’s risk profile within its acceptable tolerance
levels in business operation, oversight of management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of overall
risk management process from risk identification, risk
assessment, establishment of appropriate risk responses
and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to
ensure the systems are effectively established and
maintained.

The risk management process is structured from
management of the Group from respective business
functions at execution level to the Board, together
assisted with the Audit Committee in decision-making
and monitoring level. Management of the Group
identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and
potential risks through a detailed assessment process
and determines the appropriate mitigation strategies
and control measures in response of the identified risks.
Ongoing evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks,
respective measures, and results are carried out and
reported to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-
making level, assisted with the Audit Committee,
reviews the risk appetite, risk management process and
strategies and also the internal control systems and
provide recommendations for any improvement on the
systems in an ongoing basis to ensure risk management
effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of
the CG code. The Group conducts review of the risk
management and internal control systems on annual
basis. To strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the “Adviser”) to
perform independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of certain subsidiaries’ risk management
and internal control system for the year ended 31 March
2023. The scope of review was determined and approved
by the Board, including review of risk management
functions of selected entities of the Group on a rotation
basis. The Adviser carried out the review which involves
the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls;

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the risk
management and internal controls review;

3. Reviewing relevant documentation on site relating
to the risk management and internal controls
review;

4.  lIdentifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls; and

5. Communicate the identified control deficiencies, our
recommendations, remediation plan of management
and follow up results to the Audit Committee so
as to facilitate the Board and Audit Committee in
evaluating of the Group’s risk management and
Internal Control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view
there are no material risk management and internal
control defeats were identified by the Adviser during
the course of review. With the discussion between
management, the Adviser and the Audit Committee, the
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee,
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The
review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen
the Group’s control environment and processes.

The Company formulated the inside information policy.
The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees
appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The Company
shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.
Procedures for collection, evaluation of information and
the publication manner are in place to ensure timely
reporting of the inside information to the Board and the
stakeholders of the Group.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business.
All Directors have formal letters of appointment setting
out key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due
to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated
to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have specific terms of reference setting
out the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committee. All committees are required by their terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their
decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board's approval before
taking any actions.

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial
to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’” AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’
and Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as
determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders.
The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can
be reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
the annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer attended
the annual general meeting in 2022 (the “2022 Annual
General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of
each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company
conforms to the best corporate governance practices.
The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual
general meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the holding of the
annual general meeting, in which it sets out the details of
each resolution proposed and other relevant information.
At the 2022 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions
were put to vote by poll. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, was
engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures
for demanding a poll on resolutions at general meeting
are contained in the Bye-laws. An explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman would respond to queries raised by the
shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The poll
results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
Company Secretary or other appropriate members of
senior management also respond promptly to inquiries
from shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of Company Secretary
at Unit 1201, 12/F., 29 Austin Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition
a special general meeting, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the
Company) at their own expense have the right by written
requisition:

(@) to require notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting
to be given to shareholders; and/or

(b) to request for circulation to shareholders any
statement of not more than one thousand (1,000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at any general meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by
the requisitionists in a single document or in separate
copies prepared for the purpose. A copy of the signed
requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses, must be deposited at
the Company's registered office in Bermuda:

(@) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six (6) weeks before the
annual general meeting unless an annual general
meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less
after the copy has been deposited, in which case
the copy shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited though not deposited within the time
required; and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one (1) week before the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to shareholders
and investors. The Company updates shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices,
announcements and circulars. The Company's website
(http://www.ts674.com) provides a communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

With a view to bringing the Bye-laws in line with certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda between 2012, 2015 and 2022 and to
modernising and updating the Bye-laws, the amendments
to the Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of
the Company in September 2022. Details of which are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 22 August
2022.

The Bye-law is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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CCTH CPA LIMITED
RIEXEEEEIRAE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(PEEFZERERATF)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group"”) set out
on pages 81 to 220, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from sale of completed
properties

Refer to note 7 and the accounting policies in note 4(j)(i)
to the consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised revenue amounting
to HK$598,941,497 from sale of completed properties,
representing approximately 92% of the Group's total
revenue, for the year ended 31 March 2023. Revenue
from sale of completed properties is recognised
when the criteria for the transfer of properties to the
customers set out in the sale and purchase agreement
are fulfilled. We focused the revenue recognition from
sale of completed properties as a key audit matter in
view of the significant amount of revenue recognised for
the current year end.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition
from sale of completed properties included:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s controls over the recognition of
revenue from sale of completed properties at
appropriate point of time;

We reviewed, on a sample basis, the sale
agreements entered into between the Group and
its customers to understand the criteria for the
delivery of completed properties to the customers
through which a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.,e. when control of the completed properties
underlying the particular performance obligation has
been transferred to the customers; and

We tested whether the criteria for the transfer
of completed properties have been fulfilled
by checking, on a sample basis, to the sale
agreements, the delivery notices signed by
customers for handover of the properties to
the customers and the settlement status of the
consideration.

Key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 18 and the accounting policies in note 4(f)

to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had investment
properties with the carrying amount of approximately

HK$246,398,830.
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All of the Group’s investment properties are carried at
fair value. The fair value valuations, which were carried
out by an external professional valuer, are based on
direct comparison method that involve management’s
significant judgment of unobservable inputs. Details of
the valuation techniques and significant unobservable
inputs used in the valuations are disclosed in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

We focused on the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying amount to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, combined with the significant judgments
associated in the determination of the fair value.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

- We obtained an understanding of the valuation
process and technigues adopted by the independent
valuer engaged by the management to assess if
they are consistent with industry norms;

- We evaluated the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the independent
valuer engaged by the management; and

- We made enquiry of the independent valuer
engaged by the management to assess the
reasonableness of the significant unobservable
inputs and validating the accuracy of the source
data adopted by the management and the external
professional valuer by comparing them, on a
sample basis, to where relevant, publicly available
information of similar comparable properties and
our understanding of the real estate industry.
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Key audit matter

Impairment loss on completed properties held for sale

Refer to note 21 and the accounting policies in note 4(i)
to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of completed properties held
for sale was HK$2,939,392,390 as at 31 March 2023,
representing approximately 69% of total assets of the
Group at that date.

Impairment assessment of these properties held for
sale was based on management judgment of the net
realisable value of the properties which was determined
by reference to the estimated contract prices for the sale
of the properties to customers.

We have identified the impairment of the completed
properties held for sale as a key audit matter due to the
significant carrying amount of the properties at 31 March
2023 and the management judgments involved in the
estimation of their net realisable value.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the
impairment loss on completed properties held for sale
included:

° We obtained an understanding of the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls in respect of the property
development cycle with particular focus on controls
over cost budgeting and periodic review, sources
of impairment assessment data and calculation of
impairment provisions.

° We compared the carrying amounts of the unsold
completed properties to their respective contract
sale prices as shown in the list of properties
prepared by management of the Group.

° We selected, on a sample selection basis, the
agreements entered into between the Group and
its customers for sale of properties and compared
the contract sale prices and other terms stated
in the agreements to those set out in the list of
properties.

o We checked the reasonableness and calculation of
the net realisable value of the unsold completed
properties prepared by the management and
evaluated as to whether the unsold completed
properties for sale are accounted for at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’'s internal control.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023

Ng Kam Fai
Practising Certificate no.: P06573

Unit 1510-1517, 15/F., Tower 2,
Kowloon Commerce Centre,

No. 51 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong
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REETEWHER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HE_ZT-_=F=-A=+—HILHFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-=F —T-CF
Notes HK$ HK$
Wizt BT BT
Revenue W25 7 650,769,369 256,890,302
Other losses, net HAE51E - 558 8 (9,415,351) (19,862,292)
Cost of completed properties sold BHEERIWE MR (442,290,694) (132,690,334)
Depreciation on property, plant and  #% - R RFEEZINE
equipment (2,233,674) (2,802,375)
Staff costs BIA 10 (9,712,291) (10,632,652)
Other operating expenses Hih &Y 12 (31,892,378) (29,283,337)
Finance costs B E AR 13 (34,010,779) (36,848,887)
Profit before income tax M BT % Al A 9 121,214,202 24,770,425
Income tax expense PSR 14 (42,115,708) (9,092,219)
Profit for the year REERR 79,098,494 15,678,206
Other comprehensive Hitt 2@ (F8),hE
(loss)/income
Item that may be reclassified HETHER I BEES
subsequently to profit or loss Z1EH
Exchange differences arising on BEBINEBEEER
translating foreign operations =% (40,129,183) 22,583,243
Reclassification of foreign exchange &M B AT BINEFEE 2
reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries E# D - (1,942)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMPE NS
for the year, net of tax (B NBrFiE) (40,129,183) 22,581,301
Total comprehensive income TEEZHKGAE
for the year 38,969,311 38,259,507
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =% = =45
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HE-Z-_=F=R=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
Notes HK$ HK$
Wizt B BT
Profit for the year EEREEER
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KARIER A 16 30,366,064 8,021,068
Non-controlling interests FEIER R 36 48,732,430 7,657,138
Profit for the year REE @A 79,098,494 15,678,206
Total comprehensive income EhEAFELEKRRAE !
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company RAEEB A 762,847 21,507,533
Non-controlling interests RS 38,206,464 16,751,974
Total comprehensive income KEEZAMELEE
for the year 38,969,311 38,259,507
Earnings per share attributable EATEEAEEZER
to owners of the Company BF 16
Basic (HK cents) BEARCENM) 1.097 0.347
Diluted (HK cents) BEOEN)) 1.096 NATNE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #BE®EKRE R 2 A



e MBI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MRZZE-_=F=A=+—H

As at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Notes HK$ HK$
it BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment % « BENMEZE 17 3,878,910 5,382,044
Investment properties KEYE 18 246,398,830 279,651,299
Goodwill HES 19 - —
Finance lease receivables FEWmERERE 20 231,796,903 266,635,423
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 482,074,643 651,668,766
Current assets RBEE
Completed properties held BESEERIYE
for sale 21 2,939,392,390 837,029,266
Trade and other receivables FEWE R H A aE 22 389,462,880 297,927,334
Contract costs B HIAR 26 17,362,013 13,665,085
Finance lease receivables FEWmERERE 20 47,521,401 48,876,419
Amount due from a director JrE U — %%%m 23 - 77,800
Amounts due from related JE U i A 30T
parties 23 1,735 1,916
Prepaid tax TERFLIE — 16,216,960
Cash and bank balances e RIBITER 24 413,280,678 192,855,112
Total current assets MEVEEMRE 3,807,021,097 1,406,649,892
Total assets EEHE 4,289,095,740 1,958,318,658

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-E-_=F=ZA=+—H
As at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Notes HK$ HK$
it BT BT
Liabilities =R

Current liabilities pE =R
Trade and other payables ENERNEAMRIE 25 307,764,174 102,715,169
Contract liabilities AHEE 26 1,998,314,566 579,969,382

Amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders of

FERT I A B 2 SRR
IR

subsidiaries 23 12,145,486 35,817,817
Bank borrowings RITIEE 27 — 99,234,953
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 62,215,335 57,328,788
Current tax liabilities ROIBIBEE 9,599,234 333,034
Total current liabilities mEBREARE 2,390,038,795 875,399,143
Net current assets REBEEFEE 1,416,982,302 531,250,749
Total assets less current EELERRBERS

liabilities 1,899,056,945 1,082,919,515
Non-current liabilities FRBERF
Convertible bonds AR (E 5 28 170,283,454 —
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEEE 30 267,393,946 —
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 419,857,879 482,547,260
Total non-current liabilities ERBAERRE 857,535,279 482,547,260
Total liabilities =Rt 3,247,574,074 1,357,946,403
NET ASSETS BEEFE 1,041,521,666 600,372,255
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE@ER AR A A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MZZBE_=F=HA=+—H

As at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Notes HK$ HK$
okz3 B BT
Capital and reserves KAREBAEEZ
attributable to owners of BARG#HE
the Company
Share capital A&z 32 171,423,328 115,443,328
Reserves s 630,403,946 271,014,525
801,827,274 386,457,853
Non-controlling interests JEERR R 36 239,694,392 213,914,402
TOTAL EQUITY fEREEE 1,041,521,666 600,372,255

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to

220 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board

on 29 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chen Weiwu

RER

Chairman

*E

BENESIE220ENHEAMBRRN_-F
TEFERAZTABEE=SHENRET
BUWHTIATIRREZTEERSE -

Jiang Ruowenhao
TIEXR
Executive Director

HITEF
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REeEREREH X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HE-Z-_=F=R=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAERE
Employee
share-based  Convertible Foreign Non-
Share Share Other  Contributed compensation bonds exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests equity
HRBRAz  TRRES i N .
R RiraE Rt B4ER RRHMER i NERE ZRER Mt FBRER RREE
(note 33) (note 33)
(Bi33)  (Wi33)
HK$ HKS HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$
AT V-3 V-3 -3 V-3 -3 V-3 BT AT AT AT
At 1 April 2021 115443328 2,369,133,039  (99,144,717) 28,784,000 7,292,983 — 17679904 (2,074,238217) 364,950,320 197,162,428 562,112,748
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 8,021,068 8,021,068 7,667,138 15,678,206
Exchange differences arising on
translating foreign operations - - - - - — 13488407 — 13488407 9094836 22,583,243
Reclassification of foreign
exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries
[note 35) - - - - - - 1,942) - (1,942) - (1,942)
Total comprehensive income — — — - - — 13,486,465 8,021,068 21507533 16,751,974 38,259,507
At 31 March 2022 115443328 2,369,133,039  (99,144,717) 28,784,000 7,292,983 — 31,166,369 (2,086,217,149) 386,457,853 213,914,402 600,372,255
At 1 April 2022 115,443,328 2,369,133,039  (99,144,717) 28,784,000 7,292,983 - 31,166,369 (2,066,217,149) 386,457,853 213,914,402 600,372,255
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 30,366,064 30366004 48,732,430 79,098,494
Exchange differences arising on
translating foreign operations - - - - - - (29,603,217) - (29603,217)  (10525966) (40,129,183
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - (29,603,217) 30,366,064 762,847 38,206,464 38,969,311
Acquisition of additional
interests from non-
controlling shareholders of
a subsidiary (note 29(a)) 22,500,000 29,250,000 83,609,762 - - 8,706,375 - - 144,006,137 (210,237,462)  (66,171,325)
Acquisition of subsidiaries
{note 29(b)) 26,700,000 93,450,000 3,054,398 - - 128,820,153 - - 252,024551 197,810,988 449,835,539
Shares issued upon conversion
of convertible bonds 6,780,000 20,442,261 - - - (8706,375) - - 18515886 - 18515886
At 31 March 2023 171423328 2512,275,300  (12,480,557) 28,784,000 7292983 128,820,153 1,563,152 (2,035,851,085) 801,827,274 239,694,392 1,041,521,666

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #BE®EEKRE R QA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—E-= —EF -
Notes HK$ HK$
izt B BT
Cash flows from operating REEKFEBZ
activities HEeERE
Net cash generated from REHEBEEZ
operations ReFRE 38(a) 407,737,390 369,638,800
Interest received B UFE 254,669 468,117
Tax paid BASRIE (50,778,216) (15,005,406)
Net cash generated from REEBEEZ
operating activities REeFE 357,213,843 355,101,511
Cash flows from investing RETEFE2RERE
activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, BT B AR -
net of cash acquired MR TS IR & 29 144,197,004 —
Disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWBAR -
of cash disposed MBRAHERS 35 - (18,193)
Decrease in amounts due FEUS B /B~ 7] 2 FEFE A%
from non-controlling A& B FRIER
shareholders of
subsidiaries - 5,348,639
(Decrease)/increase in AR NG 2
amounts due to non- BRI R L),/
controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (74,737,673) 1,673,425
Decrease in amounts due FEULERE A TR IER
from related parties 77,800 550
Purchases of property, plant EEWE  BELRE
and equipment 17 — (236,996)
Net cash generated from RETHELEZHSFE
investing activities 69,537,131 6,767,425
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =% = =44}
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REHETRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-_ZT-=-F=-A=+—HLLFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E-=
Notes HK$ HK$
izt BT BT
Cash flows from financing RETHEB2RESRE
activities
Increase in bank borrowings IRITIEE LN - 26,783,333
Repayment of bank EERRITEE
borrowings (91,705,822) (225,970,163)
Interest paid BRAFLE (33,711,628) (51,055,800)
Repayment of principal EEHEEEZRSEHY
portion of the lease
liabilities (28,933,416) (30,652,135)
Net cash used in financing MEESFAZ
activities HEFHE 38(b) (154,350,866) (280,894,765)
Increase in cash and ReRRELEEER
cash equivalents 0 272,400,108 80,974,171
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZRERBRLEE
beginning of year BHE 144,755,536 61,590,019
Effect of exchange rate EREHERS RIALEE
changes on cash and HEZ&2
cash equivalents (7,809,651) 2,191,346
Cash and cash equivalents at WERZRERREEE
end of year EH 24 409,345,993 144,755,536

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability and its issued shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). The directors consider the
Company’'s immediate and ultimate holding company
to be Grand Nice International Limited (“Grand Nice"),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “"BVI"). The directors also consider the Company’s
ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Chen Weiwu who
is the sole shareholder of Grand Nice and is also a
director of the Company.

The Company’'s registered office is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda and the Company's principal place
of business is at Unit 1201, 12th Floor, 29 Austin
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.

The Company is engaged in investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the “"Group”.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of amended HKFRSs - effective 1

April 2022

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") has issued a number
of amended HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

None of these amended HKFRSs has a
significant impact on the Group's results
and financial position for the current or prior

period.

Other than the above, the Group has not early
adopted any amended HKFRSs that are not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following amended HKFRSs, potentially

relevant to the Group's consolidated financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by

the Group.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 28

and HKFRS 10

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Insurance Contracts'
Insurance Contracts'

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information’

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liahilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

Sale or Contribution of Assets hetween
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current?
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2023.

January 2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after a date to be determined.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERBERAR

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of
all the new and amendments to HKFRSs not
yet effective for the current year will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’'s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because of
the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy
information.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continued)

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the
Group’s significant accounting policies. The
impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed
in the Group's future consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates
as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in
financial statements to be measured in a way
that involves measurement uncertainty — that
is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts
that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy.
Developing accounting estimates involves the
use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in
accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

3.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “"HKFRS") issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules"”) on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost basis,
except for the investment properties which are
measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

In prior years, the Company's functional
currency was Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"). The
Company is an investment holding company.
Due to the continuing expansion of the
Group’'s business operations in Mainland
China (“PRC"”) which are transacted mainly
in Renminbi (“RMB"),
determined that the functional currency of
the Company changed from HK$ to RMB
on the prospective basis from 1 April 2021.

the directors have

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$ as the directors are of
the view that the HK$ is the appropriate
presentation currency for the users of the
Group's financial statements given that the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when the
acquired set of activities and assets meets
the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and
assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input
and substantive processes and whether the
acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing
equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (@ maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’'s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Company.
Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control of the subsidiary are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting
a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets
and liabilities that do not constitute a
business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to the financial assets
and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other individual
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give
rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (i) power
over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

When the Group has less than a majority of
the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Group's voting rights in an investee
are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being
the excess of the aggregate of a consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregated of fair value
of consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment, as gain
on bargain purchase.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually by comparing
its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 4(qg)), and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase
(Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated
to each asset will not reduce the individual
assets carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable),
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

whichever is

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold Over the shorter of
improvements the lease term
and its useful life
Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment
Plant and machinery 5 years
Motor vehicles 3-5 years

Right-of-use assets Over lease terms of

2-3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(g)

Investment properties

Investment properties are property held either
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the
production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment
properties also include leased properties which
are being recognised as right-of-use assets
and subleased by the Group under operating
leases. Investment properties are measured at
cost on initial recognition and subsequently at
fair value with any change therein recognised
in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as a leasee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating
leases or finance leases) are required to
be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets
the definition of an investment property,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. For right-
of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, they are carried at fair
value.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and
buildings that are held for rental or capital
appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and are
carried at fair value.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease
payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise
price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
(v) payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date,
the Group measures the lease liability by:
(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, or to reflect revised
in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the
term of any lease (because, for example, it re-
assesses the probability of a lessee extension
or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease
liability to reflect the payments to make over
the revised term, which are discounted using
a revised discount rate. The carrying value of
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the
variable element of future lease payments
dependent on a rate or index is revised,
except the discount rate remains unchanged.
In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right-of-use
asset, with the revised carrying amount being
amortised over the remaining (revised) lease
term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction
is recognised in profit or loss.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual
terms of a lease with the lessor, if the
renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price
for the additional rights-of-use obtained,
the modification is accounted for as a
separate lease, in all other cases, where
the renegotiated increases the scope of the
lease (whether that is an extension to the
lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured
using the discount rate applicable on the
modification date, with the right-of-use asset
being adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate leases. The sub-lease
is classified as a finance or operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Group’'s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration
for a lease that was not part of the original
terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The
Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, recognising
the remaining lease payments as income
on a either a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the remaining lease
term. The Group applies the derecognition
requirements of HKFRS 9 to recognise
modification or derecognition gain or loss on
the net investment in the finance lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirely
when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies
its debt instruments:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"):
Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On derecognition, gains

and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to

profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may
be designated at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition if doing so
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4, FEESTTHE®)

(h) BBITEE)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =

BBEE(E)
EFTAE)

BAFEEFARLD B2
FEEFABEZMBEE
BREFEEENMBEEE
RINpERFEERAFE
Bt A ABaRZUBEE =&
s EKIEAFEEAEZ
MBEE - HARNICHLE
SEEm BT BEE - B
SN BEEDBRFEER
B TAETA(BRERBLRA
APTETR) D BRFIEER
B EZETETAKEE
RAEBE R T ERIBRSN - 3]
EREBY ARSI NARE R
MEMMBEE  TwEX
BEA A - A FEE
AAABRESBLFE-BE
a0 b SR E #5 T A R R
HRASIE A FEEF AR
femED 8 - BRI
HERE - HEMBRUBE
A gEtEER - AIEHTA
AEEREATEAENAR

m °

M



12

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity
investment that is not held for trading,
the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in
the investment's fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are
measured at fair value. Dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss unless
the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in
fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances
for expected credit loss (“ECL") on trade
receivables, contract assets, financial
assets measured at amortised cost and
debt investments measured at FVOCI.
The ECLs are measured on either of the
(1) 12 months ECLs:
these are the ECLs that result from

following bases:

possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the

assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure
loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that
is based on the Group’'s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For other debt financial assets, the
ECLs are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based
on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group's historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to
be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the
financial asset is more than 90 days past
due.

Interest income on credit-impaired
financial assets is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income
is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial
liabilities, depending on the purpose
for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss.
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in
profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid
contract may be designated as a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the
embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss if the following
criteria are met: (i) the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the
liabilities or recognising gains or losses
on them on a different basis; (ii) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial
liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be
separately recorded.
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mEMBERRHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=f=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGSTBEE)
(Continued)
(h) Financial Instruments (Continued) (h) BIIETIR(E)

(iii) BIHBEEE)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for the gains and losses arising
from the Group's own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification
to profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income
does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
including trade and other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, amounts due to related parties,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation
process.
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e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—EZ=F=A=+—H

31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv) Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the
Group that contain both the liability
and conversion option components
are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity
instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using
the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference
between the proceeds of the issue of
the convertible bonds and the fair value
assigned to the liability component,
representing the equity conversion option
for the holder to convert the bonds into
equity, is included in equity (convertible
loan notes equity reserve).
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mEMBERRHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=f=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGIBEK®)
(Continued)
(h) Financial Instruments (Continued) (h) BIIETIR(E)
(iv) Convertible bonds (Continued) (iv) ARBRERE)

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option
to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds reserve
until the embedded option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated
in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share
premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry dates,
the balance stated in convertible
bonds reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the
proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) i 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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mEMBERRHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=f=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGSTBEE)
(Continued)
(h) Financial Instruments (Continued) (h) BIIETIR(E)

(vii) BB

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a
financial liability in whole or in part as
a result of renegotiating the terms of
that liability, the equity instruments
issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability
or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued
cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect
the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit
or loss for the year.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
(viii) Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset
is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets
or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs of completed properties include
acquisition costs, development expenditure,
other direct costs and borrowing costs
capitalised attributable to such properties.
The carrying values of properties held by
subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated
financial statements to reflect the Group's
actual acquisition costs, where appropriate.

Net realisable value is determined by
reference to expected selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services
is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer,;

° creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or
service.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at
contract inception.

(i) Completed properties for sale

Revenue arising from the sale of
completed properties for sale in the
ordinary course of business is recognised
when legal assignment is completed,
which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use
of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the
property.

Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of
revenue recognition are included in
the consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities. When
the advance payments are regarded as
providing a significant financing benefit to
the Group, interest expense arising from
the adjustment of time value of money
will be accrued by the Group during the
period between the payment date and
the completion date of legal assignment.
This accrual increases the balance of
the contract liability during the period
of construction, and therefore increases
the amount of revenue recognised when
control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

Other revenue and income

Rental income under operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease in
accordance with HKFRS 16.

Finance lease interest income is accrued
on a timely basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the date
exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the repayment
schedule of the finance lease receivable to
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
The finance lease interest income is
recognised in accordance to HKFRS 16.

Dividend income is recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is
established.

Interest income from a financial asset is
accrued on a timely basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and
calculated at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition. The interest
income is recognised in accordance to
HKFRS 9.
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4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's
right to consideration in exchange for
services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional.
In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the
Group’s obligation to transfer services
to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a
customer or the costs to fulfil a contract
with a customer which are not capitalised
as inventories, property and plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs
to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.g.
an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period
and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current
tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount
of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B P 1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Income taxes (Continued)

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties
at their carrying amounts at the reporting
date. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Income taxes (Continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The
provision for LAT is based on management'’s
best estimates according to the understanding
of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT
liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon the completion
of the property development projects. The
Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with the tax authorities for
some of its property development projects.
The final outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences may have an impact on the
LAT expenses and the related provision in the
period in which the difference realises.
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1

Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
at the average exchange rates for the vyear,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating, to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in the profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’'s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to the profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the
foreign exchange reserve.

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4, FEESTTHE®)

(1

SN (AE)

RARBE  BINEHZ WA KRR
XBRBEREATYEXRBERAE
Bz 2B - EEHAER KIS
MEZIERT - AIIRAER ZETT
RREZER - 2FBINEKZE
ENAE  HRBEEHRZERR
H-MELZELEZR(A)IRE
fo 2R - SR N2
SME ot 5 R A8 CE R B 5T AR
) - EREE R [R5 R
RZBRTHERRNLEBRAEH
EBRBINER 2 EFE 8D
ZEPERHEAMELZELEER
AleEf o Bt mKE - I
FEmT RERINERR

HEBINERER - SMNERE R TER
BERZEBEEHEAMILZRE
EREBEREROBEED 1R
HERMHEIR 2 —FD -

RZZZRF-A—HHZER R
W BINRISRES 2 B AT
AHEBEEZAERAFEERE
e BN EHZBEENAER
B WIRmE R ZIRITERETT
B8 - TELZENZRIINIMNE
fEEH R -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =

131



132

mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 7 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The expected costs of profit-sharing and
bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for profit-sharing and bonus
plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they
are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=f=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.
(Continued)

FESHHRE#)

(m) EEFEFE)
(iv) BEBEWEF

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv) Post-employment benefits

Retirement benefits to employees
are provided through several defined
contribution plans.

The Group adopts a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong for all
employees of its subsidiaries operating in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries but subject to a cap in accordance
with the statutory requirement and
are recognised in profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group has recorded provisions for
long service payments for employees
who had completed the required number
of years of service under Hong Kong's
Employment Ordinance for whom
the Group is obligated to pay long
service payment on termination of their
employment.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
that operate in the PRC are required to
participate in a government-managed
retirement benefit schemes. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute
a fixed cost per employee to the
government-managed retirement benefit
schemes. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable.

There were no forfeited contributions
utilised by the Group to reduce existing
level of contribution for each of the years.
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—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees, the fair value of the options at the
date of grant is recognised in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity
instruments expected to vest at the end of
each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair
value of the options granted. As long as
all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a
charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure
to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options
are modified before they vest, the increase
in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification,
is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to
persons other than employees, the profit or
loss is charged with the fair value of goods
or services received unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets. A
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.
For cash settled share based payments, a
liability is recognised at the fair value of the
goods or services received.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment; and
° interests in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.
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31 March 2023

4.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B 5 12 %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flow expected to be derived from
the asset or cash-generating unit (see note
4(d)) discounted to their present value using
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash-generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probably
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that

person’s family is related to the Group if

that person:

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control of the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions apply:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the
parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that

person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i)~ child

ren of that person’s spouse or

domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that

person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as other gain in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised as deferred income in
consolidated statement of financial position
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.

Financial Guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at
FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECL provision measured in accordance
with principles of the the accounting policy
set out in 4(i)(ii); and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15.
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates are evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations

of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances. The key assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 7 12 %

Impairment of completed properties held
for sale

Management assessed the impairment of
the properties held for sale based on an
estimation of the net realisable value of the
underlying properties which involves, inter-
alia, considerable analysis of current market
price of properties of a comparable standard
and location. If the actual net realisable value
of the underlying properties are less than
expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in
the budgeted development costs, material
provision for impairment losses may result.

No impairment loss for the completed
properties held for sale was recognised in the
profit or loss of the Group in respect of the
current year.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in
the Group's consolidated financial statements
require measurement at, and/or disclosure of,
fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities
utilises market observable inputs and data as
far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the
inputs used in the valuation technique utilised
are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

° Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets
for identical items (unadjusted);

° Level 2: Observable direct or indirect
inputs other than Level 1 inputs;

° Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not
derived from market data).

The classification of an item into the above
levels is based on the lowest level of the
inputs used that has a significant effect on the
fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the
period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties
(note 18) at fair value.

For more detailed information in relation to the
fair value measurement of the items above,
please refer to the applicable notes.

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(c)

(d)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 7 12 %

Useful
equipment

lives of property, plant and

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment and
will revise depreciation charges when useful
lives differ from previous estimates.

Impairment loss on financial assets at
amortised cost

Significant judgements is required in applying
the accounting requirements by the Group's
management for measuring the loss allowances
of financial assets at amortised cost.

The Group’s management use its judgement
in making such measurements including the
credit history, existing market conditions,
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information,
and market value of collaterals if applicable.
In order to determine the most appropriate
models in estimating the loss allowances for
each type of financial assets at amortised cost,
significant judgement is required to relate
appropriate key drivers of credit risk as well as
future movement of different economic drivers
and how these drivers will affect each other.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will affect
the carrying amount of financial assets at
amortised cost and thus the loss allowance in
the period in which such estimate is changed.

5.

EXRSHEREEMETTHE

EMRIR#Z)
(c) W% BERZE>TERED

(d)
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)

LAT

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures
including land cost, borrowing costs and all
property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in
property development business in the PRC
are subject to LAT, which have been included
in the income tax expenses. However,
the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various PRC cities and the Group
has not finalised its land appreciation tax
returns with various tax authorities for
certain projects. Accordingly, judgement is
required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes payable. The
Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax expenses and
provisions of LAT in the period in which such
determination is made.

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

EXRSHEREEMETTHE

EMRIR#Z)
(e) it ig{ER

FELHIEERIIIRRI0%E
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CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERBERAR

mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

SEGMENT REPORTING

Management determines operating segments based
on the reports regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), which is
the board of directors (the “Board”), in assessing
performance and allocating resources. The CODM
considers the business primarily on the basis of the
types of services supplied by the Group.

The Group had the following reportable operating
segments during the year:

Property sub-leasing — sub-leasing and leasing of
and investment investment properties
business

Property — development of real estates
development
business

Money lending — provision of loans to customers,
business including individuals and
corporations under the
provisions of Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong
Kong

DERE
BEERBIELEZRRE([TERLYE
REE]) NEse((EEg ) THE
BIAERBREDRERZ REBETR
BN TBRERRETIEZRAEH
Rtz RIBTEREBER

EFERN AEEBBUTARERED

I

WEIER — SHRBEERE

REEH YES

YE 3353 — BREME

E

MEFEH — REEEED
F163EMEA
P12 AR E
REBREEN
TEP  BHEE
AEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Zf=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHmEH)
Segment information is presented below: DEERZYNAT ¢
(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEETHRESLEKRE  BANRES
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EEREBZERRHEMER
and other information
2023
ZBIZE
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money
investment development lending
business business business Total
NESAR NERR
REXH % HEXH g
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
V53 V73 -7 A7
Reportable segment revenue EECHEDS
External revenue M 51,821,872 598,941,497 - 650,769,369
Inter-segment revenue NERlE - - - _
51,827,872 598,941,497 - 650,769,369
Reportable segment (loss)/profit REEHATRENE
before income tax (B8)/ %7 (10,339,107) 143,565,698 (15,778) 133,210,813
Other segment information AAEER
Interest income ETON 39,826 178,469 582 218,871
Interest expenses Flems 32,315,244 827,142 - 33,142,386
Depreciation of property, W% BEREEINE
plant and equipment - 1,827,673 - 1,821,673
Fair value loss of investment properties &£ ATEEEE 22,653,200 - - 22,653,200

Gain on disposal of property, LENE  BERRE NG
plant and equipment

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =% = =& £ #
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mE MW RWE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

6.

(a)

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHRE®E
Information about reportable segment (a) FEATHESEWE  HEFHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EERAEBEZENRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (#&
2023
ZECCE
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money
investment development lending
business business business Total
NEIAR NEER
REEE % HEER L
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
Az V-7 A7 AT
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ HEFREEE S - - - -
Loss on termination of lease contracts X IFREANZER - - - -
Loss on transfer of investment properties &% RENE EiE - - - -
Loss on modification of subleases in EERENpERETE A
respect of finance lease receivables RhemnEs - - - -
Reversal of impairment losses for EUREARENE HEEE
finance lease receivables Em 60,203 - - 60,203
Provision for/[reversal of| impairment ERETREMTEZRE
losses on trade and other receivables,  EBEE/(EE)FE
net 175,295 (5,890,296) - (5,715,001)
Reportable segment assets TRENEEAE 596,304,554 3,672,525,189 503,664 4,269,333,407
Additions to reportable segment RENRENBHHEAE
non-current assets - - - -
Reportable segment liabilities IRENEEE 539,359,736 2,531,211,017 3,546 3,070,640,359

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EE®EZERAER A &
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(a)

e MW R MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Zf=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHRE®
Information about reportable segment (a) FEATHESEWE  HEFHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B BEENEBZEHNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&
2022
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money
investment development lending
business business business Total
mEHMR VIES
e £% HEEH k]
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Reportable segment revenue THEIBRE
External revenue Sk 80,198,009 176,692,293 — 256,890,302
Inter-segment revenue e — _ _ _
80,198,009 176,692,293 — 256,890,302
Reportable segment profit/(loss) BFiEHATRENE
before income tax B/ (58) 15,379,479 20,548,327 (193,888) 35,733,918
Other segment information HDEER
Interest income FIEYA 17,606 434,668 1,977 454,151
Interest expenses FERY 34,675,900 2,147,259 - 36,823,219
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% - BRE R&kE HE
equipment - 1,923,668 — 1,923,668
Fair value loss of investment RENE ATEEER
properties 11,546,666 — — 11,546,666
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BELEEZ
plant and equipment Wz - - - —
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFRREEE NS
assets 1,845,024 — — 1,845,024
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZE-=# &%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—EZ=F=A=+—H

31 March 2023

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEBRED
(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEEUTHRESEKRERE  BANIE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B BEENEBZEHNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&
2022
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money
investment development lending
business business business Total
mEHMR VIES
e £% HEEH ke
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Loss on termination of lease RIEREAHZER
contracts 4,764,634 — — 4,764,634

Loss on transfer of investment BRRENEZER
properties 2,927,880 - — 2,927,880

Loss on modification of subleases B EEWEERETEY
in respect of finance lease AHBHESER
receivables 6,205,268 — — 6,205,268

Reversal of impairment losses for ~ EWRABEREY

finance lease receivables FEERED — — - -
(Reversal of)/provision for ERETREMTEZ

impairment losses on trade and ~ JFEEE(EE) /&

other receivables, net FE — — _ _
Reportable segment assets THRENREE 665,707,000  1,261,791,697 533,733 1,928,032,430

Additions to reportable segment  FEAHRENEIERE
non-current assets BE 17,854,449 236,996 — 18,091,445

Reportable segment liabilities THENEARE 600,912,588 751,724,687 3,546 1,352,640,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

6. DEBE®)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b)

or loss, assets and liabilities

HREDERFAEER  EEKE
Bz 8k

Profit before income tax BR AT 1355 A% A
2023 2022
—EZ=HE —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment profit before B FT{S AT
income tax BEER il 133,210,813 35,733,918
Unallocated gain on disposal of AOEHERBAR 2 Mz
subsidiaries - 5,407
Unallocated reversal of impairment losses &t £ EWTIE
on other receivables AEREREE 7,231 —
Unallocated interest income and other AOEFBMARE A
income 1,011,364 2,373,909
Unallocated staff costs ANBEIRA (6,179,024) (6,279,204)
Unallocated finance costs ANEBMERAE (868,393) (25,668)
Unallocated depreciation of property, APEEME  BENEE
plant and equipment ZIE (406,001) (878,707)
Unallocated head office and corporate AN ERERRARRAY
expenses (note) (Bet) (5,561,788) (6,159,230)
Profit before income tax BTSRRI 121,214,202 24,770,425
Note: Hiat -

Unallocated head office and corporate expenses

mainly include professional and consultancy fees,

administrative expenses and business development

expenses.

AOBRBREERRAAFAXETERE
EXREMER THRAXRERE
BRI -

|11

i
th
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit

6. DEBE®)

(b) AMESWEFNAEE  EERE

or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) B2HIR(E)
Assets BE
2023 2022
—EZ=HE —E-fF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment assets ARENEEAE 4,269,333,407 1,928,032,430
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NKRE 697,257 271,851
Trade and other receivables W& T Bt FIE 6,355,225 8,494,327
Cash and cash equivalents RekfeFEEE 12,708,116 21,440,334
Unallocated head office and AN BHERER
corporate assets NEIBE 1,735 79,716
Total assets BEERE 4,289,095,740 1,958,318,658
Liabilities BE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EoF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment liabilities AREDEER 3,070,640,359 1,352,640,821
Convertible bonds Al (E 170,283,454 —
Lease liabilities HEEE 698,858 286,583
Unallocated head office and corporate KOBBRER N
liabilities ARIEE 5,951,403 5,018,999
Total liabilities BEME 3,247,574,074 1,357,946,403
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HBE®EKREE QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c) Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

An analysis of the Group's geographical
segments is set out as follows:

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

DEBE#)

(c) HEER
AEMEBTBEHRAEB RS
°

AEEMER B ZATHINNT

2023
—E-=F
Hong Kong PRC Total
58 B B
HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT

Revenue U=
Non-current assets other FERBEE

than financial instruments (BFFE T AKIN)

— 650,769,369 650,769,369

693,238 249,584,502 250,277,740

2022
Hong Kong PRC Total
x5 == HEE
HK$ HK$ HK$
ST BT BT

Revenue &
Non-current assets other ErEEE

than financial instruments (B8 T ERKBRIN)

— 256,890,302 256,890,302

265,264 284,768,079 285,033,343

Note: Revenue attributed to regions on the basis of
the customers’ locations.

et B EEERETDREPUER

|11
th
th
e
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

REVENUE

Analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as

follows:

7. W&

AEBZARFERIEDOMAT :

2023 2022
—E-=HE —EoF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
Revenue from sale of completed properties HEBRTYE T RE 598,941,497 176,692,293
Revenue from other sources H 3R bz
Gross rental income from property MESHERHREHES
sub-leasing business LON:E 23,865,422 51,678,153
Interest income from finance lease FEM R E M EFIE 2 R B WA
receivables 27,962,450 28,519,856
51,827,872 80,198,009
Total revenue recognised BRI EE 650,769,369 256,890,302
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
Disaggregated revenue information for the HE_Z_=FR-_T__F
year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 A=+ BLEEZHE
Wz B Rt
Timing of revenue recognition KRz R
Goods transferred at a point in time NE LR 7 B2 598,941,497 176,692,293
Services transferred overtime BRIGHERS R & - —
598,941,497 176,692,293
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE@EERAR A A



e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-=F=RA=+—H

31 March 2023

OTHER LOSSES, NET 8. HfEsE FH
2023 2022
—E-=H —T-CF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Bank interest income RITHEWA (254,669) (468,117)
Government grants relating to unconditional BB 2 BT
subsidies (168,000) —
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE 2 Wa
(note 20(i)) (K13 200) - (1,845,024)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB LRz W - (5,407)
Reversal of impairment losses on finance EWmERETIE O RERE
lease receivables, net (note 20(ii)) B EFRE (R 20(01) (60,203) —
Reversal of impairment losses on trade and M E R R B A TR 2 R EEE
other receivables, net (note 22(b)) BEFE (ML 22(0)) (5,722,232) —
Loss on termination of lease contracts BIFHEEEHNCEE - 4,764,634
Loss on modification of subleases in respect HEEKREREREY HH
of finance lease receivables (note 20(iii) MAVNE LB (A 200i)) - 6,205,268
Loss on transfer of investment properties ERREME B
(note 18) (Kt 18) - 2,927,880
Fair value loss on investment properties KEMEZ N THEEEE
(note 18) (B1:£18) 22,653,200 11,546,666
Others Hib (7,032,745) (3,263,608)
Total other losses, net H BB R (55 9,415,351 19,862,292
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 — % = = £ 4§
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mE MW RWE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/

BR AT 158t Al A
BATEBATEREMEGHAORT&

(crediting): 15 :
2023 2022
—E-=HE —E-F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Cost of completed properties sold BEHERITYE KA 442,290,694 132,690,334
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries® HEWB ARz " - (5,407)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets” HEFRESE 2 W' - (1,845,024)
Loss on transfer of investment properties’ — @AY 7 EiE" — 2,927,880
Reversal of impairment losses on finance R ERERIE 2 REEE
lease receivables, net" BEEst (60,203) —
Reversal of impairment losses on trade and  JEWEH R EMFIE Y HEER
other receivables, net" e EIp=ct- (5,722,232) —
Auditor’s remuneration ZEE & 1,000,000 1,000,000
Fair value loss on investment properties” REWMEZ N FEESR" 22,653,200 11,546,666
Loss on modification of subleases in respect &R ELET Bza AR
of finance lease receivables” o EE - 6,205,268

losses, net”
comprehensive income.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

The amount is included under the
in the consolidated statement of

“other
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11.

mEMBERRHE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

10. STAFF COSTS 10. BT R4
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=
HK$ HK$
Er BT
Staff costs (including directors’ BTN (BEESHS)
emoluments) comprise: B
Salaries e 8,568,274 8,738,988
Contribution to defined contribution REMFGERETE 2
pension plans e 802,031 518,125
Other short-term monetary benefits HEa R HeEMN R 341,986 1,375,539
9,712,291 10,632,652
DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 1. EERGREEEHE
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEMS
The directors’ emoluments are analysed as follows: FEMEHWHT ¢
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
$4% /AR
ik HtbER HEL ENfE ax
2023 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
ZECCE B AT BT B B
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chen Weiwu REREE - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Mr. Zhou Houiie ARG E - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (note (i)  TEXZEHE
(W) - - - - -
Independent BiFdTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Youchun RRERE 180,000 - - - 180,000
Ms. Lui Mei Ka ExEnt 180,000 - - - 180,000
Mr. Zhou Xin [EF e 180,000 - - - 180,000
540,000 1,440,000 36,000 - 2,016,000
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =T ==& &%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 1. EEREREEEMES @)
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) B=me (&)
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
Bk Bk
ik EftiiRR HEE ENfls &%
2022 HK HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
“gCCfF BT AT AT AT AT
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Chen Weiwu RERLE - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Mr. Zhou Houjie RABGEE - 585,161 22,023 - 607,184
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (note (i)  TEXZ%EE
(B ) - - - - -
Independent BUFuES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Youchun RRERE 180,000 - - - 180,000
Ms. Lui Mei Ka BEERTL 180,000 - - - 180,000
Mr. Zhou Xin iy 180,000 - - - 180,000
540,000 1,305,161 40,023 - 1,885,184

No directors waived their emoluments in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

No discretionary bonuses were granted to the
directors during the year ended 31 March 2023

(2022: Nil).

Note:

(i) Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao was appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from
16 August 2021.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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e MW R MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 11.

MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

Among the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, two (2022: two) was the
director of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the above.

The emoluments of the remaining three (2022:
three) highest paid individuals, who are not a
director of the Company, are as follows:

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

EEREREEENE 2)

AEBREHFMAL
AEFBRERESFHALTH  ME(Z
T FWMB)ARRBEE B
SEHRNLEX -

HBR=ZR(CF__F: ZR) &= M
AT CGERRRER)ZMENT

2023 2022
—EZ=F —EF -
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Basic salaries, housing allowances, EAHE  BEEA -
other allowances and benefits in kind HE i ER R EYRER 2,560,895 1,983,726
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B 114,233 46,661

2,675,128 2,030,387

The emoluments are within the following bands:

MEELTEHE A -
2023 2022
—Eg-= T

Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees

ESEA ERSHH

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 THITE 1,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BT E

1,500,000/8 7T 1 1

3 3

No discretionary bonuses granted to the five
highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: Nil).

N E _E_=F=ZA=+—HIHF
T UERMAZERRFMALTRERNE
q(ZE——F: |) o

18

N
oF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

12. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

12. HM&EHEX

2023 2022
—B-= —EF -
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Property sub-leasing and MESHNIEEEBRHT
investment business expenses 8,156,248 7,107,791
Property development business EBREBGFT
expenses 18,157,882 15,820,451
Legal and professional fees FENEEER 1,186,319 3,297,524
Travelling expenses ZEIRF S 4,326 2,129
Auditor's remuneration Z RN € 1,000,000 1,000,000
Others Hih 3,387,603 2,055,442
31,892,378 29,283,337
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. ME KA
2023 2022
—EB-= —EF-—
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEEZFIE 827,141 16,352,127
Interest on convertible bonds (note 28)  w[#MRE %A 2 B (H:£28) 850,004 —
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGZFE 32,333,634 34,703,673
34,010,779 51,055,800
Less: Amount capitalised in properties  Jif - XEFHYE L ER (L
under development — (14,206,913)
34,010,779 36,848,887

During the prior year, borrowing costs capitalised to

properties under development at rate of 7.24% per

annum.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

PEERZERAD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14.

The income tax expense in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

FriSBiBA <
A 2ERERAZFE BN

2023 2022
—EC-=F T
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Current tax for the year N EENERRETE
— Hong Kong profits tax — BANEE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — PREMER
— PRC LAT — BT IR ER

(26,258,459) (5,358,011)
(15,857,249) (3,734,208)

(42,115,708) (9,092,219)

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
provision for Hong Kong profits tax have been made
as the Group has no estimated assessable profits
subject to Hong Kong profits tax for these years.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% (2022: 25%).

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges
of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.

HE-_Z_=Fk_FT__=A
=t+—HLEFE  TEELEBENEH
BE LDEARAEERZEFERS
FS AL M EHERBLA T -

REM B AR AL 25% (Z T -
25% ) Z TR RBR T BIB RSN -

THIRER BB RBERRE Y EBRLEA
BRIOEBPEMREAFT o THIBERE
RIREEEMNRERTREFLEE
WA ETRIHRIER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—EZ=F=A=+—H

31 March 2023

4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14. FiISHEAX®E)
The income tax expense can be reconciled to SHAYRGAEEERERPBRITSE
the profit before income tax per the consolidated %Rgu/ﬁﬂzgjﬁ@zu‘F :

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=H —T-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit before income tax M PTE AR A 121,214,202 24,770,425
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable IZERAREEER,HF2 &
to loss/profit in the respective countries BRAE 7 fHE (27,281,892) (3,146,467)
Tax effect of LAT THEER B E (3,964,312) (933,552)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PAHBMASZ 2 BB E (10,933,216)  (5,730,017)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBMBA 2 R T2 63,712 717,817
Income tax expense T3 < (42,115,708) (9,092,219)
15. DIVIDENDS 15. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the HE-_T-_—-F-HA=+—HIFEW
year ended 31 March 2023, nor has any dividend ,\\\/JfEHEJZ@m/LEHHXE' C BIREHARRR
been proposed since the end of the reporting period MERRRNEERRE(ZE
(2022: Nil). =) o
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & Bl = 7 il A [ 2 7



mEMBERRHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=%=A=+—H

31 March 2023

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BREF

ARBEBANEBEZERERAREER
FMIRIBIA T BIBETE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings
per share attributable to owners of the Company is

based on the following data:

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Earnings B
Earnings for the purpose of R TESREARET 2 BF
basic earnings per share
Earnings for the year attributable RRAFERAEEREERF
to owners of the Company 30,366,064 8,021,068
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEHETRRNTE:
Effective interest on the liability components AREESFEELD 2ERF L
of convertible bonds 850,004 —
Earnings for the purpose of RIETESREERTN 2 B 7
diluted earnings per share 31,216,068 8,021,068
No. of share No. of share
MR EE B 1n 21 B

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue for the purpose of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Convertible bonds

RERtEEREARNZ
BEITE AR

EEETLRROTE:
AR (A 7

2,767,059,447

80,658,904

2,308,866,570

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue for the purpose of
diluted earnings per share

REHESREERTZ
EEITEBRNE T

2,847,718,351

2,308,866,570

HEHE_TE-_ZFER-_FT-__F=AH
“+-RLEFEZEREFIRFTER
BARRERLRRIEETE  RAA
ZERBRREZTEBRRFEARGDZFE
HE o

The computation of diluted earnings per share for
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 does
not assume the exercise of the Company's share
options granted because the exercise price of these
share options was higher than the average market
price for shares for the year.

HRASERANFEL EEHTHEME

EERk BUEZ2IEBE_T_—
A=t RLEFEZERESRT -

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2022 is not presented as the Group has no
other potential ordinary shares in issue during the year.

|11
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e
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e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. M1 - BERRE

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leasehold fixtures and Motor
assets  improvements equipment vehicles Total
&E -
EREEE HEMELE R£ERRE RE ot
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Cost BA
At 1 April 2021 RZZ-Z-FMA—A 1,164,033 6,657,040 1,340,754 1,163,700 10,315,527
Additions wE — — 236,996 — 236,996
Disposals HE (383,757) — — — (383,757)
Exchange realignment [ERIE RS 15,515 280,479 59,847 - 355,841
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 NZE_ZF=A=+—-HNK
—Z-—#NA—H 795,791 6,937,519 1,637,597 1,153,700 10,524,607
Additions nNE 831,885 — — — 831,885
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) W B DR (M2 29) — — 94,074 174,614 268,688
Exchange realignment EH A% — (510,362) (97,786) — (608,148)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%=HA=1+-A 1,627,676 6,427,157 1,633,885 1,328,314 11,017,032
Accumulated depreciation and ZRWERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2021 RZT-—FNA—H 307,062 968,297 451,072 675,104 2,401,535
Depreciation charge for the year REEHETH 596,573 1,488,911 458,483 478,596 3,022,563
Eliminated on disposal HERF (383,757) - - — (383,757)
Exchange realignment EHAR 10,649 65,526 26,047 — 102,222
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZZZF=A=+-HE
—“Z--#NA—H 530,527 2,522,734 935,602 1,153,700 5,142,563
Depreciation charge for the year AEERELH 403,911 1,407,200 415,418 7,145 2,233,674
Exchange realignment [E 3 A% — (190,497) (47,593) (25) (238,115)
At 31 March 2023 R-Z-=%=A=t+-H 934,438 3,739,437 1,303,427 1,160,820 7,138,122
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2023 R-Z-=f=A=t+-H 693,238 2,687,720 330,458 167,494 3,878,910
At 31 March 2022 NZE-_—%=A=1+—H 265,264 4,414,785 701,995 — 5,382,044

The right-of-use assets represent properties leased

by the Group for own use.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
pledge any property, plant and equipment.

No impairment loss on property,

plant and

equipment was recognised for the year ended 31

March 2023.

162 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HBEMERAER A A
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17.

18.

e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, no depreciation
of property, plant and equipment (2022:
HK$219,110) was capitalised to properties under
development.

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

. ¥ BERRKESE)

HE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HLFE "
MEME BELRIBIHECZZT
TZF 219,108 L) EERNML BERE
b/

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES . REYE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Fair value, at beginning of the year REDN 2 AFEE 279,651,299 284,436,451
Additions NE 9,929,017 -
Loss on change in fair value recognised in RS2 EWRRERLZ
consolidated statement of comprehensive  A(EEEE)EE
income (note 8) (K15t 8) (22,653,200) (11,546,666)
Transferred to finance lease receivables EREREHERIKFIR - (4,948,571)
Exchange realignment BE 3 58 2 (20,528,286) 11,710,085
Fair value, at end of the year REXZAFEE 246,398,830 279,651,299

The investment properties represent right-of-use
assets relating to buildings held by the Group and
leased out under operating leases.

During the prior year, the Group entered into
agreements for sublease of properties for the
periods which approximate the remaining lease
periods of the properties held as right-of-use
asset by the Group. Accordingly, the relevant
investment properties with the carrying amount of
HK$4,948,571 were transferred to finance lease
receivables, with the loss on transfer amounted
to HK$2,927,880 recognised in profit or loss in
respect of the prior year (note 8), calculated as the
difference between the fair value of finance lease
receivables recognised amounted to HK$2,020,691
and the carrying amount of HK$4,948,571 of the
investment properties transferred out.

REMEREAKEFAURELEH
EHHENBFERCEELAE -

RUAGRFE  NEBERMES ML
W DHBEANEEEREEFARE
BANYENFSAERESE - Bt -
BRMEE A 4,948,671 B L HIHAIR E M E
EEBEFERERIGRIE - MERE
852,927,880 BT E R LAE F NIBEE
éwwawvﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁw

ANF(E(E 2,020,691 B TEDE R
ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ4%&m1%m2%%%%

Al&= ©

I
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties were revalued at 31 March
2023 and 2022 on market value basis by APAC
Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“APAC"),
an independent valuer, who has appropriate
professional qualification and relevant experience
in the location and category of the investment

property being valued.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3
recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation

18. REWK ()

RZEZ=FKk-_FT -
B BEMEZD

F=A=+—
FEEEHZKFEE

MERAERAR(RADEMSEEE

BB ERERA

EERERIWHPT

HERENEZNERBLERERE

B B L 1ERD -

BENEZ AFEERE=R
FEEE - EMRERA

Z<<< = H_:/L\\
FEEAR

of the opening and closing fair value balance is BRI
provided below:
2023 2022
—E== -
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Opening balance FUER
(level 3 recurring fair value) (F=REEUERFEE) 279,651,299 284,436,451
Additions NE 9,929,017 -
Loss on change in fair value recognised in  RAEE2EWRRERZ
consolidated statement of comprehensive AT (EEEFEIR
income (22,653,200) (11,546,666)
Transferred to finance lease receivables HER T EHERKEIE - (4,948,571)
Exchange realignment bE 5 S (20,528,286) 11,710,085
Closing balance FREE
(level 3 recurring fair value) (B=BEBHERTER) 246,398,830 279,651,299
Change in unrealised losses for the year M=—A=ZT—BIEEETA
included in profit or loss for assets held BasFAREREE L
at 31 March e (22,653,200) (11,546,666)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED Bl /& 7 &
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value is determined by applying the income
approach, using the discounted cash flow
method, based on the estimated rental value of
the properties. The valuation takes account of
occupancy rates and rental growth rates of the
properties. The discount rates have been adjusted
for the condition and location of the buildings.

Significant unobservable

inputs Range
Discount rate 6% — 9%
(2022: 6% — 9%)

Growth rate 2%
(2022: 2%)

Occupancy rates 90%
(2022: 88%)

Market yield 4.4% — 6%

(2022: 4% — 6%)

The higher the discount rate and market yield, the
lower the fair value. The higher the rental growth
rate, and occupancy rates, the higher the fair value.

The fair value measurement is based on the above
properties’ highest and best use, which does not
differ from their actual use.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 or
any other level. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between Levels of the fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

No investment properties has pledged to secure
the bank borrowings granted to the Group as at 31
March 2023 (2022: Nil).

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

18. REWZHE (#)

NFEEDREEBMEZ(ATHER
EEAM™RBERESL  BRRABALE
E o BRMGEEFRBEYMEZIAERR
HMEEREXR - PREXCOHEHEEEZMN
ARLLEEHFRE -

BEART
BE2Y &iE
BhIR & 6% 2 9%
(ZEZZF 6% E9%)
BRX 2%
TEC 1 2%)
PNER: 90%

(T -4 :88%)
4.4% £ 6%
TE T CFE 4% E6%)

MBRERMIBELEDS AT EED
K-HAeERERATERR A TE
ERS -

RNPEBEAEDRELAVEZZER
BRRg  REERAGESR -

BHE_FT-_=FFk=-_FT=_=_F4=H
= +—HILEFE SIEEAXBELE=
WA MEAMER - NEB ZBER AR
AN EEERER 2 ®ERER
BRI o

RZZEZ=F=A=+—RH #HEKE
MECEERUNERR T AEE 2 RTT
fEE(ZZ-—F &) -
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mEMBRRHTE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

19. GOODWILL 19. B8
Property
sub-leasing
business
MESRER
HK$
BT
Cost RS
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMA—H 204,921
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% 8,634
As 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZB-__F=A=+—HBK
—E-—FMA—H 213,555
Exchange realignment PE R (15,710)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-—=%=H=+—H 197,845
Impairment RE
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMA—H 204,921
Exchange realignment [E 7, 3% 8,634
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZB-__F=A=1+—HK
—E-_FMA—H 213,555
Exchange realignment PE 5 (15,710)
At 31 March 2023 R-E=-=F=HA=+—H 197,845
Carrying amount BRE{E
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=H=+—H —
At 31 March 2022 W-ZE-——#=A=+—8 o
The goodwill was fully impaired as at the end of REFHNMERSH KR BELZERHE
both of the reporting periods presented. =

166 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HBEREERAR A A



20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

mEMBERRHE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Zf=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

20. R EERERE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

Notes HK$ HK$

=3 B BT

Gross finance lease receivables FE R E TR E N IB AR 459,722,180 540,337,522

Less: unearned finance income JR - REBELZ g E RS (179,413,546) (223,737,790)

Net finance lease receivables FENBETHERIBERE (i) 280,308,634 316,599,732

Less: loss allowance i B IR RHE (ii) (990,330) (1,087,890

Finance lease receivables FE R E R ERIE 279,318,304 315,511,842
Finance lease receivables analysed as: EWREMERTIBITMAT ¢

Receivable within one year —F AR 47,521,401 48,876,419

Receivable after one year —FEEW 231,796,903 266,635,423

279,318,304 315,511,842

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z-=f£%%#

167



168

mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

Net finance lease receivables

The finance lease receivables are arising from the
property sub-leasing business. For finance lease
receivables, the customers are obligated to settle
the amounts according to the terms set out in the
relevant lease contracts.

During the prior year, the Group entered into
agreements with Beijing Tian'an Innovation
Technology and Estate Limited, an entity which
is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Weiwu,
a director and an ultimate controlling party of the
Company, for leases of certain properties which
were then subleased to the Group's customers.
The cost of these right-of-use assets were to be in
aggregate HK$17,854,449, of which the right-of-use
assets amounted to HK$19,699,473 were classified
under finance lease receivables, with a gain on
disposal amounted to HK$1,845,024 recognised in
profit or loss in respect of the prior year (note 8)

20. EWmEHEERE®)

(i)

& Y Rl B TR B IR AR

U REREFRELAMENHE
o tEERERETRME &P
BEBRFERBEES QTN EX
EESE -

RAEER - AEBHELRXL R A
BEXERARI(AARRESHHERE
FlrEREREEHEE2EREEE)
RETUERERTHE  Z5WE
HESBFARBERERS - it FAE
BEZKANETE R 17,854,449 78 7T -
Heh{FAEEE 19,699,473 8 LR
AEKRERERE  MHEZKRE
£1,845,024 % 70 B R AR F N B 25 FE
R(HzES) °

The finance lease receivables at end of the year are NERERBERERB L OMBET -
analysed as follows:
2023
—E-=F

Minimum
lease Present
payment value
BREHREMNK RE
HK$ HK$
B B
Not later than one year TER—F 72,972,489 47,066,911
Later than one year but not later than five years i@ —FENERTFE 168,280,262 75,250,381
More than five years BBAF 218,469,429 157,991,342
459,722,180 280,308,634
Less: unearned finance income i RERELZ BB A (179,413,546) -
Present value of minimum lease payments SERENZZRE 280,308,634 280,308,634

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Net finance lease receivables (Continued)

—E-_=Zf=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

20. EWmEHEERE®)

Biet ()

(i)

fEM R E T B RIRFE ()

2022
T —F
Minimum

lease Present
payment value
HEMBERRK HE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year —1F 78,953,944 48,876,419
Later than one year but not later than five years iiﬂ i@x\ REF 200,811,999 85,323,903
More than five years BBAF 260,571,579 182,399,410
540,337,522 316,599,732
Less: unearned finance income S ARBRELZ B E WA (223,737,790) —
Present value of minimum lease payments SERENZZRE 316,599,732 316,599,732

(ii) Loss allowance on finance lease receivables

(ii)

The following table reconciles the loss allowance of

finance lease receivables for the year:

W B B B R 2 B R

B REREFIRARAFE ZFHER
BEEREFIN T

2023 2022
—E=-= T

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of year REH (1,087,890) (1,087,890)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised REEBHERZRBE

for the year (note 8) EERE (HEs) 60,203 —

Exchange realignment b 7 A% 37,357 —

At end of year RER (990,330) (1,087,890)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =—Z=-=4%#
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEHZERBER AR

Loss allowance on finance lease receivables
(Continued)

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
Group’s accounting policy in note 4(h)(ii).

The ECLs of finance lease receivables are based
on the 12-months ECLs that results from default
events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since its initial
recognition, the loss allowance will be based on
life-time ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk has been increased significantly since its
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment with forward-
looking information. The loss allowance recognised
above are related to debtors that are slow in
settlement and management assessed that none of
the balance is expected to be recovered. Based on
the ECL calculation performed by the management,
the reversal of expected credit loss allowance of
HK$60,203 is recognised for the year (2022: No
expected credit loss allowance was recognised).

20. EWmEHEERE®)

Hiat (&)

(ii)

FEW BB M EFUA 2 BREE(E)

AEBEIZMF AN PIRBEAREEZ
AT BRI E RS

R RmERERIBZBHEEBRAD
Z12EAEHEESENE  HRA
AREERE BHE2ERAANBEEZE
HEF - A BYIBRERUREE
[ B KW 12 A0 B - S 1R E S LA 2 H
BHEEREAEE - EEETEER
BEVBERRERTREEMN A&
HezEAErEENEBZRAL
SHHNAEBSZAERASEEN &
BEREASEBELCHRLE NEEF
HEHZEEREHER RSN - I
BIEATEMER - P B BREIEE
EHIREEREZEBA MEEE
AR TEAE T URE - RIBH
EREETZEMEEBEGE B
HREEBIERE 2#R60,203LE
RERBER - (ZZ=Z=F : BERE
HieEEIERE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

21.

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

Modification of finance lease receivables

During the prior year, the Group entered into
supplemental agreements with customers under
which certain terms and conditions set out in the
original lease agreements were modified which
resulted in a loss on modification of finance
leases with customer amounted to HK$6,205,268
recognised in profit or loss in respect of the prior
year (note 8). This loss on modification of finance
leases was calculated as the difference between
the carrying amount of the related finance lease
receivables before the modifications and the fair
value of the finance lease receivables when the
modification of the leases were effected.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

20. EWmEHEERE®)

Biat (&)

(i)  EFTEKEEEE TR

RUAEER AEBEZFITZHR
Wk Bt RESEREAMERE TIK
HRIGEHEAER BRRUNTFEE
EHAETFIEUREREZEHE
6,205,268 7L(Misk8) - ZREHE
ERTEBR IR R AR E KR AR
B FRIE A BR T E SRS 2T & A R R
KmEHERENAFEEZHNZE
AT E -

21. FERFERIYE

SALE
2023 2022
—EZ=HE —E-F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Completed properties in the PRC R FERIME -
held for sale, at cost DN 2,939,392,390 837,029,266

The directors of the Company conducted

impairment assessment of the completed properties

with reference to the contract prices for the sale

of the properties to customers and concluded that

no impairment of completed properties is required

to be made as the net realisable value of the

properties is not less than their carrying amount.

ARAEER2ERAEFHEMEZA
WEBHRTYRETRENE - G
SEARYEZ AR FEMIRERE
B - SBUEARK T EIELRE -
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mE MW RWE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. BB R R HMFKIE
2023 2022
—EC=E —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables (note (a)) FEWE R (B (a) - 1,170,385
Deposits (note (b)) B& (i (b)) 15,813,656 20,929,601
Prepayments and other receivables TEATRRIA Fo E A WU IE
(note (b)) (K1&t b)) 373,649,224 275,827,348
389,462,880 297,927,334
Notes: /}/?LEI .
(a)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on (a) RMEHER - BREZFAHNBRBRES

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

invoice date after impairment loss at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

BREERAHBEZRRATAT

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-_—
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within 90 days 90HA — 1,170,385

R EEERERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22.

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(b) Deposits mainly represent deposits paid for the

lease of properties. An analysis of the prepayments
and other receivables are as follows:

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

FEWE R R H A RE (#)

Wit (%)

(b)) RETEEFRMEVEIMNZEE -
TN R REMERFIRZ AT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E_F

HK$ HK$

BT JEIT

Prepayments FE B 127,631,440 201,388,503

Value added tax receivables FE Y (E F 18,857,189 44,052,532

Other receivables H fth FE U R IE 227,160,595 30,386,313
Total prepayments and other receivables TEA 3R TE K EL At FE U R TE

e 373,649,224 275,827,348

The balance mainly represents prepayments to
contractors and refundable deposits for various
potential business development projects.

HEHRIZENZEBEXEHERER
A AR B S Y 2 RN ROR S AR B IR

2N
e
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Continued)

The below table reconciles the loss allowance of
deposits and other receivables for the year:

22. B

MiaE

ERRHMRE E)

(48)
(#8)

BehEMERHRERAFE ZER
BEBLHERHIIN TR

2023 2022

—E-=F —EC-F

HK$ HK$

BT JETT

At beginning of year REH (25,047) (25,047)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g hy=pNG)| (6,924,639) —
Reversal of impairment loss, net recognised PARFE D EZRREEE 5,722,232 —

for the year (note 8) B e FRE(HEs)

Exchange realignment [ 5, S 28 5,062 —
At end of year RER (1,222,392) (25,047)

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
Group's accounting policy in note 4(h)(ii).

The ECLs of deposits and other receivables are
based on the 12-months ECLs that results from
default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since its
initial recognition, the loss allowance will be based
on life-time ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk has been increased significantly since its
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including both
guantitative and qualitative information and analysis
based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment with forward-looking
information. The loss allowance recognised above
are related to debtors that are slow in settlement
and management assessed that none of the balance
is expected to be recovered. Based on the ECL
calculation performed by the management, the
reversal of expected credit loss allowance of HK$
5,722,232 is recognised for the year (2022: No
expected credit loss allowance was recognised).

AL BRI RE 4(h) () 2 A SR B & &t
BRI ERE

reRhEMERHEBEZBREERR
TER12EAEREEBENE - B
BRIEEERE R ARI2EARELE
ZRERAFEMN - AT BVAEHERIAK
EERBE AL - BIERESIA
EHEHEEBREAEE - BEER
SR B vn R R RS AEEM
AEEeERARIREANHBE K
ARG N ES 2R RARE
B BREREAREBELRKLC A
EEFEBHZEEREHER kS
- TEEMELEEN - Ll E R
BEBEIMEERIEZEBA M
EIRE M EARTEHT TRE -
RIFEREMET 2RBESEIEF
¥ FARRENCEEBRERERD
5,722,232 8 T(Z T —F : EHER
TEMEEEEREE) -



23.

24,

e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A DIRECTOR,
NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED
PARTIES

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, all of the amounts due
from/to a director, non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and related parties were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The maximum outstanding balance of amount
due from a director during the prior year was

HK$77,800.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

23. B EN—-—FESE  WEQ

gZ#Eﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁki%
I

R-B_=FR_F__F=A=+—
A -FEREK BN—2EF HEBLRQ
Bl ZFE R BCR BB AL RIBEY A E
B 2R RAREREE -

ik

NEFRER —BEERE & AE
B AT77,8008 T °

24. BERBITER

2023 2022
—EB-= T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cash and bank balances presented in the REVEBARAKRMZN RS R
consolidated statement of financial position RITH 413,280,678 192,855,112
Less: restricted cash o ZEERS (3,934,685)  (48,099,576)
Cash and cash equivalents presented in HERERERMZEINZ
consolidated statement of cash flows RekReSFEIEE 409,345,993 144,755,536
Notes: Bt

(a) At 31 March 2023, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$406,625,500 which are placed with the banks in
the PRC (2022: HK$178,334,226). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under
the PRC’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

(b) Restricted cash of HK$3,934,685 (2022:
HK$48,099,576) held in the designated bank
accounts of the Group was pledged to the banks
until the customers’ building ownership certificate
of the respective properties have been issued by
PRC government and retained by the banks. The
restricted cash was only applied for payment of
property development costs.

(@) RZTZ=%=A=+—8 &x&£H
GFERFBRCZRITZUARKEFEZ
IR & & 88 77 45 84 4% 406,625,500 7% Tt
(ZZ = — % :178,334,2266 7T ) °
ARBTIEHLRABEMEL - A
i - AR AR B 2 CHNE & AR ) R 4
- EERMNEBTIERE)  NEBEE
AEBIBE R R ITINE 75 2 RITHE
AREHIBAEMER -

(b) AEEETHRITHRERFIZAEZ IR
IR £3,934,6858 t(— & = — F:
48,099,676 B L) BB TFIRIT  HEE
BERBzEBAYER#EFATEK
[FB&EWHBITRE - RRHRSE
AR NYERRER -

I

&l
th
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. BNERRHEMRE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade payables (note a) FENER (A Za) 184,448,066 27,118,695
Accruals fEZtE 3,900,341 1,612,400
Other payables (note b) HE e RIB (M Eb) 88,986,647 40,569,143
Other deposits received (note c) EmB Uik (Hitc) 30,429,120 33,414,931
307,764,174 102,715,169
Notes: Wit

(@) Included in trade and other payables are trade (a) ENEFRMEMFESIEEMSER -
payables with the following ageing analysis based ERBERRBEREARZRED

on invoice date as of the end of reporting period: Mo
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current or within 30 days BIEF sk A 30 HA 2,511,389 3,406,271
31 to 60 days 31HZ60H 181,936,677 23,712,424

184,448,066 27,118,695

Trade payables are expected to be settled within

one year.

(b)  Other payables mainly represent the payable relating
to the promotion of property development.

(c)  Other deposits received mainly represent the rental
deposit received in relation to the sublease of

properties to customers.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

R EEERERA A

ENERERELE—FAEN -

(o) HEtENFIBZERREEWIEEYEM

BEEMNFRIR ©

(c) EHEtiphiRerXr2HEAE-rEEYE
B EZE -



mEMBERRHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=f=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

26. CONTRACT COSTS AND CONTRACT 26. BRRERENERE
LIABILITIES
Contract costs EHRA
The Group pays sales commissions to property NEBEMYEHEREFSKIN ABERER
sales agents for securing property sales contracts HEHEEANLT(IERS  AEEB
for the Group on a success basis. The Group MEMEKNRERN BE DI o
capitalises these incremental costs as contract
costs.
Contract liabilities EHEE
Contract liabilities primarily relate to advances SBaEFERERNINGNER L ZEXEg
from customer for sales of development properties HERREYE IR TER -
before the criteria for revenue recognition have
been met.
Movement of contract costs and contract SGHARBREHNEBES
liabilities
Contract costs Contract liabilities
BHRE ENEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECZZE —E-CF —EC-=E —E-F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B BT
Balance at beginning of year RE 2 13,665,085 3,948,423 579,969,382 434,758,001
Increase in contract liabilities as BUFEANEE
receipts in advance gl - — 92,796,841 300,962,583
Increase in contract costs AR AIE NN 4,965,745 11,700,716 — —
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B F]
(note 29) (Hi£29) 12,264,388 — 1,965,389,052 —
Transferred to other operating BREZHEMOERAY
expenses (12,554,411) (2,306,445) — —
Recognised as revenue during RARFEEWERE
the year g — — (598,941,497) (176,141,909)
Exchange realignment & 5 R (978,794) 322,391 (40,899,212) 20,390,707
Balance at end of year RERZ & 17,362,013 13,665,085 1,998,314,566 579,969,382
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group HEr_—_EZ_=F#=H=+—H1It=F
recognised revenue of HK$539,969,621 (2022: E AEBBICE IWENE
HK$84,428,815) from sales of completed properties 25539,969,62178 (= & — — £F:
that were included in contact liabilities at the 84,428,815 7T) ' st AFEVIAHMEE

beginning of the year.

I

&l
th
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

27. BANK BORROWINGS 27. IRITEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E_F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Secured and interest bearing AR —FARIZEREEZ

bank borrowings repayable within ﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁ&éﬁ GRITEE

one year or on demand - 99,234,953

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2022, personal and corporate
guarantees were given to bank by Mr. Chen Weiwu,
a director of the Company, his spouse, a subsidiary
and entities related to non-controlling interest of
the subsidiary for bank borrowings obtained by the
Group.

Interest was charged on the bank loan at 7.24% per
annum.

As at 31 March 2022, entire equity interest of a
subsidiary had been pledged to secure the bank
borrowings.

Completed properties held for sale with the carrying
amount of HK$632,173,370 at 31 March 2022 had
been pledged to secure the bank borrowings.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the bank
borrowings of HK$99,234,953 was fully repaid by
the Group.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HBE®EKREE QA

Hat

) RZFEZZF=F=+—H  £A2A"
EERERLLE  HEB - —HNEB
NEINEMB AR EERERBEEN
EEFRAEEEEARITERART
EHEARABER -

(i)  MITEFTIRFNERT 24% 8 -

iy R-TZE-_—_F=A=+—8  —EH
BRI R AERIR
TEE -

(iv) R-ZZE-_—_4F=A=+—8 BREE
£632,173,370 B L2 FHIEHE B &
TITYECERBUERRBITEE -

vy BE2-_Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—H81t
FEAEECDEZHEERTEE

99,234,953/ 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

28. AR ES

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HKS$ HK$
BT o
Convertible bonds: AR ES

— Liability component — BEE» 170,283,454 -

Classified under non-current liabilities: DEAEREDERE
— Convertible bonds — ABmRES 170,283,454 -

Notes:

Mzt

(i)

Convertible Bonds July 2022

On 6 July 2022, the Company issued convertible
bonds with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$27,120,000 (the “Convertible Bonds July
2022") as part of the consideration for acquisition
of the 65% equity interest in Huachuangwen Land.
The convertible bonds bear zero interest and carry
a right to convert the principal amount into share of
HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company
at an initial conversion price of HK$0.2 per share
during the period commencing from 6 July 2022
(the “Bond Issue Date”) to 6 July 2027 (the "Bond
Maturity Date”). The conversion price is subject
to adjustment on the occurrence of dilutive or
concentration event. The Company may at anytime
from the Bond Issue Date to the Bond Maturity Date
redeem the convertible bonds at par.

(i)

“EC_FEATERRES

R-ZZ-_—_F+AXA  KQAIET
N & #4858 /27,120,000 T 2 1] #
BKEH(ZZB-Z—F+tATERE
% 1) EAUEEE A E H65% AR
BzHHIRE - TBRRESARES
WH AR TR —_E-_—_F+ AXNH
((E%RTAH =T =-_tFtA
ANB(EHEEHA D AMZR SRR
BER2EBETEACEZRAERNT
MR R FREE0.068 T 2D o £
BERBEERERBERL T RRER
FTHRE - ARAATREFHITAHE
&5 5 BA B HA R Ba s 4R T (BB Bl P 32
RES -

|11
th
th
e
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Convertible Bonds July 2022 (Continued)

The convertible bonds contain two components:
liability and equity components. The equity
component is presented in the equity heading
“convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest
rate of the debt component on initial recognition is
8% per annum.

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds July 2022 was estimated to
be HK$18,453,525 at the issue date as valued by
the external valuer based on the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows discounted at
the prevailing market rate for an equivalent non-
convertible loan.

Details of principal valuation parameters applied in
determining the fair value of the Convertible Bonds
July 2022 liability component is summarized as
follows:

28. AIRRESF &)

Biet (&)

(i) Z—ZBZZE+ATBREHRE)

AmEESEmmESD - BELE
AR o B BP0 Al R A 25
BITZHERED - AEID R PR
REFZERMNEDFREEY% °

TR FLARNEARESEGEE
DPZAFEERETEHGET A
18,453,525 7T + Jh R AN B ERD IR
BT ARRBEeREZHBIZRET
ARRER 2RISR R ) #TT
fhE -

BEFr-ZT-__FLtAVBREFAR
Loz ATEEMERZZEHRES
BEEEBaAmT

Bond Issue Date

BEHBITA

Principal amount:

Coupon rate:
Maturity date:

Conversion price:
Risk-free rate:

Expected volatility:
Expected dividend yield:

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED FElEHZEkA R 2

EER M X
TERRIR IR
BHIRRE R

HK$27,120,000
27,120,000 7 7T

Nil 42

6 July 2027
—ZTEFEAKRH
HK$0.20

0.2087T

1.96%

74.88%

0%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Convertible Bonds March 2023

On 10 March 2023, the Company issued convertible
bonds with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$249,150,000 (the “Convertible Bonds March
2023") as part of the consideration for acquisition
of the 100% equity interest in Reach Glory Holdings
Limited (“Reach Glory”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Reach Glory
Group”). The convertible bonds bear zero interest
and carry a right to convert the principal amount into
share of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the
Company at an initial conversion price of HK$0.2
per share during the period commencing from 10
March 2023 (the “Bond Issue Date”) to 10 March
2028 (the “Bond Maturity Date”). The conversion
price is subject to adjustment on the occurrence of
dilutive or concentration event. The Company may
at anytime from the Bond Issue Date to the Bond
Maturity Date redeem the convertible bonds at par.

The convertible bonds contain two components:
liability and equity components. The equity
component is presented in the equity heading
“convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest
rate of the debt component on initial recognition is
8% per annum.

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds March 2023 was estimated to
be HK$169,495,811 at the issue date as valued by
the external valuer based on the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows discounted at
the prevailing market rate for an equivalent non-
convertible loan.

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

28. WA ESR (#)
Kzt - (&)

(ii)

“E=FZATHBRRES

R-ZZ-_=F=ZA+H ARFET
N 48 %8 /249,150,000 7T 2 7] #2
BEFIZZ-_=F=ZATHKE
1) EREBERERBERAQA
(IB& D REMNBAR(REIBERE
B ])100% Btz B8 - AIAR(E
HREE THME#MNTR-_T_=
FZATR(EHBTRHMDE=-F
“NAF=ZA+TB(ES2HA ) HRE
RS HBEEGR02ETHACEE
BAARREBRAPEREE0.06/8TT
Zht o AERERBEEXETER
TRRERN THE - ARFRARES
HITRMEESFD Y HHEERRE
BEEEABRRES -

AmpESemmESs - BELE
AP o B R BP0 Al R A 5
BITZHERED - BEID R LR
REFZBERMEBFREEY% °

T - AABERESFABL
DPZAFEERETEHGET A
169,495,811 87T Ty /NP ERNIR
BT ARRBEeREZHBEIZRET
ARRER ZHITTBF EELH ) #TT
fH1E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)  Convertible Bonds March 2023 (Continued)

Details of principal valuation parameters applied in

determining the fair value of the Convertible Bonds

March 2023 liability component is summarized as

follows:

28. AIRREZ#)

Biet (&)

(i) =BZZ=ZFZRAUHRRESRE)
BEFr-ZT_=—F-AvBREFAE

HozATEEMERZEIEZHESR
BEEEBaAmT

Bond Issue Date

BEHBTH

Principal amount:

Coupon rate:
Maturity date:

Conversion price:
Risk-free rate:

Expected volatility:
Expected dividend yield:

PN

FEAIE -
5890 -

g L )

JERRR IR

R B

No repayment for and conversion of the Convertible
Bonds March 2023 took place during the current
year and the Convertible Bonds March 2023
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2023.

The movements of the liability component of the

convertible bonds are set out below:

HK$249,150,000
249,150,000 % 7T
Nil 4

10 March 2028
“E-NF=A+AH
HK$0.20

0.20%7T

3.70%

79.46%

0%

WAFEWEEEREBR T - —F= A7
BBEES MR-ZE-_=F=A= + A
Z_TE_=F=- ANTEBREHFNRESR

AHRRESEERD ZEBHHEIIAT

Liability component

aERS
Convertible Convertible
Bonds Bonds
July 2022 March 2023 Total
—E-C-F —BZ=F
tATERES ZRURKRES ot
HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT B B
Carrying amount at 1 April 2022 R-ZZ-—_FMBE—H
ZIREE - - _
Issuance of convertible bonds BT E S 18,453,525 169,495,811 187,949,336
Effective interest expenses (note 13) BRI BRI (HZ13) 62,361 787,643 850,004
Derecognition upon conversion of convertible &5 A ABIE TR
bonds by the bondholder BEHFEEEER (18,515,886) - (18,515,886)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=A
=t+—BZEEE - 170,283,454 170,283,454
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED F EEREZERE R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

29. WEBFE A F

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F

Notes HK$ HK$
HiaF BT BT

Net cash inflow arising from
acquisition of:
— Huachuangwen Land
— Reach Glory Holdings Limited

WELTSBEEY
WERATE
—ZERIXEH
BRI R AT

(a) (47,717,800) -
(b) 191,914,804 -

144,197,004 -

Notes:

Mat

(a)

Acquisition of additional equity interests from
non-controlling interests

On 30 July 2021, the Company entered into a
share purchase agreement with non-controlling
shareholders of Huachuangwen Land, to acquire
55% of the issued sale capital of Huachuangwen
Land. The consideration paid is satisfied by (i) cash
of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$47,717,800),
(ii) the issue and allotment of 450,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company and (iii) the issue
of convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$27,120,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB22,600,000). The fair value of the Company’s
ordinary shares issued are based on the quoted
market price at the date of completion of the
acquisition. The acquisition was completed in 6 July
2022.

Immediately prior to the acquisition, the carrying
amount of the existing 55% non-controlling interests
in Huachuangwen Land was HK$210,237,462. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$210,237,462 and an increase in
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
of HK$83,609,762.

[ FE A s b e M A RR SN A

RZBE-Z—FE+HA=1+H AR FlHE
EAINE Ay IR IR AR R AT L BB R 15
Fo NREBEAE MDD BITHER
RHEB5% - ERNREUOBEEAR
# 40,000,000 7L (48 & # 47,717,800
7 7o) - (i) % 17 I Bt 3 450,000,000
BARBEBRE(GNETEASEA
27,120,000 ;L(AH & R4 AR &
22,600,000 70 ) M AJ G EH AT o &R
ARBEBITERROQAFEELDER
WSS BEMTHBRE - IESE
[ — s A =5 A

RERER  FEAXE IR B55%
JEE R 2 IR A A210,237,462
BT AEBMBERIEERES R
210,237,462 BT R AR FIRERE B A
FELREZRHE I 83,609,762 7 T °

HK$
B

Consideration paid to non-controlling interests:  [A3EFE AR HE 2SS TEOR(E -

— Fair value of the Company's ordinary shares — ARQFBE#HITEERZ A FBE

issued (51,750,000)
— Fair value of the convertible bonds — A@RESF AT ER (27,159,900)
— Cash — RE (47,717,800)
(126,627,700)

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests Frug BE e p i ok 2 BREE
acquired 210,237,462
Increase in other reserve E th A 35 00 83,609,762
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 E-_ZFFRH
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

29. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Acquisition of Reach Glory Holdings Limited:

On 31 October 2022, the Company entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Chen for
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Reach
Glory Holdings Limited for a consideration of
HK$355,950,000. Completion of the acquisition took
place on 10 March 2023.

Reach Glory Holdings Limited is principally
engaged in investment holding in Hong Kong and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC. The acquisition
of Reach Glory would allow the Group to diversify
its property development business.

The acquisition of Reach Glory Holdings Limited has
been accounted for using the purchase method.

Acquisition related costs are insignificant. Such
costs have been excluded from the consideration
transferred and have been recognised as an
expense in the current year, within “other operating
expenses” line item in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

T

I

T
]

29. WEEKMIB AR (&)

Wit - (%)

(b)

BB AR BRAF] -

R-ZZE-_—F#+A=+—H8 AAQ7A
HREATTIEERZE - LREBE
ZRAERAFEI100%ME  REA
355,950,000 L WEFER T
—ZF=ZRAt+HEK -

HEERARAREIENEBRER
By MEMBAREENPEK
EMEREER - WBBABSAE
B Z Tt KR %X -

WERRZERBRARCEMABEE
N

WEBEBRALTEKX - ZERAD
REBEREFIEG  LERAFE
EReEEREME2M JHAR



29. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of

e MW R MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. WEEKMIB AR (&)

Wit - (%)

(b) (&)

=f=A=+—H
31 March 2023

REEAERZEERAE

acquisition:
HK$
JETT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment (note 17) W - RE RERE M 17) 268,688
Completed properties held for sale FEERIYE 2,596,421,076
Other receivables E U IR 398,203,143
Contract costs (note 26) G R (HT 5t 26) 12,264,388
Cash and bank balances e R|ITEEE 191,914,804
Liabilities &EEH
Trade and other payables FEUE B E A 5RIE (260,272,018)
Contract liabilities (note 26) ERaE (T 26) (1,965,389,052)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FERTIR R A R I8 (15,890)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders FERTI B A B) 2 FEFERR A% B 7118 (53,582,847)
of subsidiaries
Amounts due to related parties FEfT @ AT 5RIE (140,332)
Current tax liabilities WITRIBA G (32,946,664)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAR (267,393,946)
Total identifiable net assets acquired BB #A EEFELE 619,331,350

The completed properties held for sale acquired with
a fair value of approximately HK$2,596,421,000 at
the date of acquisition had gross contractual amount
of approximately HK$1,851,028,000. No contractual
cash flows from the completed properties held for

sale are expected to be irrecoverable.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

29. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

29. WEEKMIB AR (&)

Wit - (%)

(b)  (Continued) (b) (%)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEENEE
HK$
BT
Consideration transferred, at fair value RAFEAENREE S
— Share capital issued — BETIRAE 120,150,000
— Convertible bonds issued — BEITARKES 298,315,964
418,465,964
Recognised amount of identifiable net assets BB AR EEFE DRSS
acquired (619,331,350)
Non-controlling interest FEVERASME S 197,810,988
Gain on bargaining purchase recognised as RERA I BARN KR ERE B HRE
reserve in the consolidated statement of BB E W
financial position (3,054,398)
Net inflow on acquisition of Reach Glory BB RN RANRE
An analysis of cash flows in respect of the BREWENENRESRESTHT -
acquisition of Reach Glory is as follows:
HK$
BT
Consideration paid in cash RENBESIH -
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Wi RERREEHEIER 191,914,804
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BekBeEEBERAFE 191,814,804

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Included in the profit of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 is profit of HK$6,596,570
attributable to the additional business generated
by Reach Glory Holdings Limited. The Group's
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 includes
HK$14,894,992 generated from Reach Glory
Holdings Limited.

Had the acquisition of Reach Glory Holdings Limited
been completed on 1 April 2022, revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2023 of the Group would
have been HK$650,769,369 and loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 of the Group would have
been HK$4,486,783. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2022,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of
the Group had Reach Glory Holdings Limited been
acquired at the beginning of the year ended 31
March 2023, the directors of the Company have:

o calculated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment acquired on the basis of the fair
values arising in the initial accounting for the
business combination rather than the carrying
amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition
financial statements.

(b)

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

29. WEEKMIB AR (&)

Wit - (%)

(%)

REABEIERBR AR MELENEEI
5 H)EF) 6,596,670 B LB AT AKRE
ERE-_T-_=—F=-A=+—ALF
A AEBBE-_T-_=F=A
=S+ BLFEREREREERE
B2 aE]FTE £/ 14,894,992 B 7T °

MUE B R IERER AN ===
FHNA—ARK AEEBHE=ZT
—TZEZ A=+ ALFEHKREB
/£650,769,3698 7L MAKE#H =
CTE-ZEZA=+—BLEENE
1815 44,486,783 /8L - BB E AR
BIEFBA AR - AUBEEAMBKER
T —FNA—BREAANEBEE
FEFHBEREEEENEEZ TP
TERFAERBEERTEA -

EETBREBERERERARERE
E-E-_—F=-A=+—HIFEF
MU EE R IE R T AREBEOEE I
SRR ARARESD -

. RIBIE N TS & GH 5 ABRE PR
EEN X TEE(NEREBEER
BRI MR AR REE)
SEMBEYE  BERREZ
e -

I
&l
J:H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. ELEMIE

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities
recognized and movements thereon during the
current year:

ST ARKEERRY T BEEHES
EREEE

Fair value adjustment
on completed properties
held for sale acquired in

business combination

REBSHPWER

BIEHENTRIVMEN

AT ERAE

HK$

BT

As at 1 April 2022 N-ZE-—FmMA—H -
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 TpEEpNG] (267,393,946)
Exchange realignment bE H B -
As at 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=A=+—H (267,393,946)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax losses carried forward to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 March 2023,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses (2022: Nil) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses
of HK$34,325,730 (2022: HK$34,325,730) can be
carried forward indefinitely and no tax losses (2022:
Nil) will be expired in five years.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
HK$83,308,189 (2022: HK$65,907,348). No liability
has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HElE & EkA R 2 A

BEMSHEEDREE CHIEBIER
R MELAE P REE R A 18 2 FERR TR F
SHBARBENZAR - RZZE=_=F
ZA=+—8  HREUTERRE T
MBS ARBARE AR IEEERR
BEHEEE(CE-__F &)
A [§518 34,325,730 (T =~ —
34,325,730/ 70 ) A] R ER AL 8 - 1 0
EBHEEE(CE--F 8)ERLSE
& e

RMEER - SARBATRSERBNE
HAABRECHEEB EREZE
4880 /583,308,189 B (T = —F
65,907,348 7T ) o 7O 7N & [ AE 4%
BOoERNE=RoBEEEREEB KA
BER Al R PR R - M BB EE
HREE -



31.

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-=F=RA=+—H

31 March 2023

LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&A®E
2023 2022
—E=H —T-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Lease liabilities payable ENHEEE
— Within one year — %R 62,215,335 57,328,788
— More than one year but within two years — — #HBiE—FEERRERN 41,035,930 39,202,572
— More than two years but within five years — BBMEBRAER 151,947,731 144,690,187
— More than five years — BBAF 226,874,218 298,654,501
482,073,214 539,876,048
Less: Amount due for settlement within S 128 A REBR&E S 2 5
12 months shown under current HAIRREEERT)
liabilities (62,215,335) (57,328,788)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 7 12 & B & B ER&E 1 2 018
shown under non-current liabilities (BIRIERFHHEBET) 419,857,879 482,547,260

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities at 6.82% (2022: 6.44%).

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

(a)

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. &
Authorised and issued share capital (a) EERDBITRAE
2023
¥ 2o
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
Ve Ll AT Ri&E BT
Authorised: $EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BRAEG AT EER
At 1 April and 31 March REA-BR
“A=1-H 20,000,000,000 1,000,000,000  20,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: RELE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BREE0.0678 T2 Lk
At 1 April REA—R 2,308,866,570 115,443,328 2,308,866,570 115,443,328
Acquisition of additional interests ERcliENGE e
from non-controlling shareholders WREIER (Wits)
of a subsidiary (note b) 450,000,000 22,500,000 — -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note ¢/ WE—-FMB AR (HiZc) 534,000,000 26,700,000 - -
Exercise of convertible bonds EmaREF M)
(note d) 135,600,000 6,780,000 — —
At 31 March R=A=1+-8 3,428,466,570 171,423,328 2,308,866,570 115,443,328
In 6 July 2022, the Group acquired further (b)) MZZE-_—_F+ANA  AEHEIK

(b)

55% equity interest in Huachuangwen
Land at a total consideration of (i) cash of
RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$47,717,800)
and (ii) the issue of 450,000,000 shares of the
Company. The issue of 450,000,000 shares
at HK$0.05 each amounted to HK$22,500,000
had been accounted as share capital of
the Company and the remaining balance of
HK$29,250,000 (note 33) had accounted as
part of the share premium of the Company.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

@R E ()R £ A R # 40,000,000
T(# & 747,717,800 T ) &
(i) 3 77 450,000,000 f% /& 2 &) §&
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fEmE00E T 2K & H
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(c)

(d)

In 10 March 2023, the Group acquired the
equity interest in Reach Glory Group at a total
consideration of (i) issue of convertible bonds
in principal amount of HK$249,150,000 and
(i) the issue of 534,000,000 shares of the
Company. The issue of 534,000,000 shares
at HK$0.05 each amounted to HK$26,700,000
had been accounted as share capital of
the Company and the remaining balance of
HK$93,450,000 (note 33) had accounted as
part of the share premium of the Company.

On 21 July 2022, the bondholders of Bonds
July 2022 had exercised the conversion right
and converted the Convertible Bonds July
2022 to 135,600,000 shares of the Company.

Details are set out in the note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

32. BA (&)

(c)

R-_ZTE-_=F=A+8 A&
RBRREOVETARASEA
249,150,000 % JT 49 7] #2 j% (& %
K2 (ii) B 77 534,000,000 J& 24X A ]
BHW R EERE %
17534,000,000 % & A% M {E0.05
BIL 2 B - & %8 426,700,000
HBIT  BIEARARKRATIE - M
#4258 .93,450,00078 ;L (FI7E33) 2
BB RBIRG H BT

RZEBE-_—_FtA=-+—8"
—HFtAE %z%ﬁ/\amﬁ%ﬁ
feiE - BT —F L ARBRRE
H 884 5 135,600,000 A% A8 &) %
% e

ERFRENEA
28 °
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(e)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Capital management policy

The capital structure of the Group consists of
debts, which includes the bank borrowings
(note 27), convertible bonds (note 28), net of
cash and bank balances, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, and reserves. The Group's risk
management reviews the capital structure
on annual basis. As part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debts.

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the
reporting period was as follows:

32. BA (&)

(e)

EXREEEER

AEEZEARBREGH(EE
BRTEEME27) Rk E
7 (KI5 28) ) B E R & RIRTTHE 84
ARARRBHEE ARIG#EDZ (B
BEITBRALMER)  AEEZE
REBEABEBFRAEARSE - 1F
RULRENZ —#n  EEESE
BEARRARZEEANERERR -

REFAHBERRE  AREH
SREARRENZBEERE [
BREBEEER  BITHRIHEER
ELUBIEET -

REEBR - B FERARL E 0
™

2023 2022

—E=E —E-CF

HK$ HK$

B BT

Bank borrowings (note 27) RITIEE (A 27) - 99,234,953

Convertible bonds (note 28) BB ES(HF28) 170,283,454 —

Less: Cash and bank balances g BEe RIRTES (413,280,678) (192,855,112)

Net cash Be % (242,997,224)  (93,620,159)
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEAELER

the Company 801,827,274 386,457,853

Net debt to equity ratio BEFERALL X NA (REH) NA (T3ER)

R EEERERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

33. RESERVES 33. f#fE
Company AT
Employee
share-based Convertible
Share Contributed  compensation bonds  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
HRH%fZ
Ritiag EdER  EEEMEE TRARESEG 2RER L
HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS
AT AT A1 AT AT AT
At 1 April 2021 RZE--ENA-A 2,369,133,039 28,784,000 7,292,983 - (2291,499,622) 113,710,400
Loss for the year rERRE - - - - (5,108,981) (5,108,981)
At 31 March 2022 and W-B-=§=A=t-AR
1 April 2022 ZECCERE-A 2,369,133,039 28,784,000 7,292,983 - (2,296,608,603) 108,601,419
Acquisition of adcitional W-AHELRHER
interests from non- REMEENER
controlling shareholders of & (23208))
subsidiary (note 32(b)) 29,250,000 - - 8,706,375 - 37,956,375
Acquisition of subsidiaries WE-EHBLA
(note 32(c)) 1) 93,450,000 - - 128,820,153 - 222,270,153
Exercise of convertible bonds — {TE AR ER 20,442,261 - - (8,706,375) - 11,735,886
Loss for the year TEEEA - - - - (6,814,489) (6,814,489)
At 31 March 2023 R-BZZE=ZB=1+-0  2512,275,300 28,784,000 7,292,983 128,820,153 (2,303,423,092) 373,749,344
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_=Ff=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

33. RESERVES (cContinued)

33. #E®)

The following describes the nature and purpose of AT RtEE AP AEEE TRHE
certain reserves of the Group within owners' equity: ZHEER B/
Reserve Description and purpose

E30]

Contributed surplus

Other reserve

Hibf#

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

WK B 8

The difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date when they were acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing
of the Company’s shares in 1991. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the shareholders provided that the Company is able to
meet its obligations after distribution and the net realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities, issued share capital and share premium accounts.
MBAREARAIKENBEAR zAMZGEERREESEARTRO N
—NMN—FETRETSESEARRKEME T 2ARARNMEEZE
B BBE-NN\—FARERRDA(KER)  BEHAKAHIIRTRE
FRERARBNDIKERRNBITHEE  MARREEZAIZRFEDT
SENEBE DBTRAEKRNDEER &FHERE -

The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of
the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in subsidiaries being acquired from and disposed to non-controlling
equity holders respectively.

REEMFFERERFAEARBLEE FTHERERTAAZMB R RE
=B MEOR D D B EIE 2 FEERBE Z5 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. SHARE OPTIONS

On 30 August 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme for the purpose of attracting and
retaining quality personnel and other persons who
may contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Options may be granted without any initial
payment to persons including directors, employees
or consultants of the Group.

On 30 August 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was approved in the Company's annual
general meeting on 29 August 2012. The Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 30 August 2012. A summary of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme is set out in the
appendix to the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2012.

On 23 December 2013, options were granted to
directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries under the Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for up to 32,333,421 ordinary shares
of the Company (“2013 Share Options”). The
estimated fair value of the options granted on
that date was HK$9,376,692 and the amount was
recognised as staff cost expense for the year ended
31 March 2014.

34.

—E-==A=+—H
31 March 2023

IR

RERSIWEBXTEBFIAS REMATEEH
REBZEBREEBERZALT K
RN ZEEZFN\A=THHEMN—IF
RRAERTE o RARKER BEZ N EMA)
THREMRTREES  AXBZEE
SERERNZ AT ©

R-_Z——FNA=+H8  ARREH
—IEFRE B ([ RRETE]) - A
BERZE——FNAZT+NLBELRAHF
REGEF RS FEAE - RIETEE
REZZE——F ) \A=+HRFT10FH
AR A N - RRESTERA 2 E#
RARBIBBHA-ZE——FtHA=+H
BT ER A o

RIE—=F+_A=-+=H" K27
RIERR B EIMES RAQR) REM
BARIZEERLRRE UREHRZ
32,333 421 RARARIEBER([=ZE—=
FRBRE]  -RZARLZRBREZG
ST AF(EEA9376,692/87C  Ze %
EREE-_Z—NFE=A=+—HLHF
EHRBE TRAMY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

34. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 34. RBRE )
The share options granted and outstanding at end REpEHARDHEE KM ARITE 2R RE
of the reporting period are summarised as below: BT -
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
ARRE T Rk INHEF 1
2B e EgE 188
HK$ HK$
B BT
Outstanding as at 1 April and REA—HR
31 March =RA=+—H
W ARTT6E 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0.513
Exercisable as at 31 March R=A=+—H
AT{TE 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0.513

The options outstanding at 31 March 2023 and 2022 had

exercise prices of HK$0.513 per share and weighted

average remaining contractual life of 0.73 years (2022:

1.73 years).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The following table discloses the movements of

options during the year:

Year ended 31 March 2023

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

34. AREE)
TRIEERR

i
g

BAERZ 2T

IR
B
(2
b
e
/7

BE_Z-=-F=-A=1+t—-HLFE

Number of
exercisahle
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
1
EREARERSR LROEE EhLE
Qutstanding
Qutstanding Granted ~ Cancelled Lapsed  Reclassified it As at
Exercise it during during during during 31 March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2022 the year the year the year the year 23 023
H-g-zf H-gzzk
BA-8 £ R R BhoOZRf-B RCRCcE
GhlE {8 5RE ifE  HAfiE R Bit# BRY  BEMAR  HARR ZRZt-B
HKS
b4
Other participants
Hfpgi
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 27942462 - - - - MM 21940462
22 December 2023 date of grant
5-F TE-TELTRTER itk
TIRCTIR ECEIETCRCECR 2H5R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=F=ZA=+—H

31 March 2023

34. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 34. RBER)

Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-E-_—_F=A=1+—HLEE
Number of
exercisable

Number of shares in respect of options granted options
1frfe
ERLRERS R RAHE i
Qutstanding
Qutstanding Granted ~ Canceled Lapsed  Reclassified it As at
Exercise at during during during during 3T March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 Apil 2021 the year the year the year the year 022 A2
ik e
RA-A En R 2 B ZRzt-B HCEICE

il it i e Wkl Rt ig BRN BENAE  HAGE ZAZT-R
HKS
AT

Other participants

Hfpgi

23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 27,9424 - - - — 94462 271942462

22 December 2023 date of grant
5-F TE-TELTRTER itk

toAZtER ESRozEroAofoR 2956
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the prior year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group disposed of a subsidiary to a third party for
cash consideration of HK$1. The subsidiary was

dormant.

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. HENEB QTR
BE-T--F=A=t-ALZBE
FF - AEERETHE— HHER
A MEeRERLER 1B - ZMEBA

AIERTER -

—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: EHEBEFE -
Cash and bank balances BE NIBTTAR 18,193
Amount due to a director B —RESHA (21,657)
(3,464)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange & Rt H = R IMNEREE
differenced from foreign exchange EoBEEER
reserve to profit or loss (1,942)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RB ARz W 5,407
Total consideration satisfied by: AR AR B ERRE
Cash REe 1
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESHEMEA RS REFEE
Cash consideration received BUWHRERE —
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FItERe RS EEE (18,193)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZREREFE (18,193)
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z = =4 &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

36. NON-CONTROLLING

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

INTERESTS

material non-controlling interests

Name of entities

Place of incorporation/
establishment/ principal
place of business

36.

FERER
HAEAFERES OIS ENEAF

Gk

Voting rights held by
non-controlling interests

Profit allocated to
non-controlling interests

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

HRAL/ RIS/ FERERFE TREFERER g3t
BEER TEEXNEY REE 2R FERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEZZE - —E-zf -T--F ZBIZE C-E-CE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A BT AT by
Huachuangwen Land PRC 10% 65% 46,753,459 7,657,138 39,904,089 213,914,402
ZEIXER E
Puning Huachuangwen
Industrial Development Co., Ltd.
("Puning Huachuangwen Industrial”) PRC 30% NA - 1,978,971 - 199,790,303 -
EEEAINELFEARAA
B heed) PE TER
48,732,430 7,657,138 239,694,392 213,914,402

Summarised consolidated financial information in
respect of each of the Group’s entities that has
material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised consolidated financial information

below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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—E-=f=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 36. FIERERE)
(Continued)
(a) Huachuangwen Land (a) ERIXEHM
2023 2022
—EBC=E —EooF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Summarised statement of 2HUBREE
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March HZ=ZA=1t-HLEE
Revenue Uz 584,046,505 176,692,293
Profit for the year REFE 95,149,813 11,780,212
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 EUE (25,208,007) 13,992,055
Total comprehensive income AFEEEENELHE
for the year 69,941,806 25,772,267
Profit for the year attributable to NCI JF¥ER IR E(RAFEHEF 46,753,459 7,657,138
Total comprehensive income RS ELRAEE
for the year attributable to NC| LGy k] 36,227,149 16,751,974
Summarised statement of BBERRRBEE
financial position
As at 31 March R=A=+—-H
Non-current assets EREEE 2,927,044 5,110,193
Current assets MEEE 614,782,466  1,256,681,503
Current liabilities MEBE (218,668,624)  (932,692,616)
Net assets BEEFE 399,040,886 329,099,080
Accumulated non-controlling interests ~ ZREIFERER 39,904,089 213,914,402
Summarised statement of cash flows BE&RERME
For the year ended 31 March HEZ=ZA=+-HLEE
Cash flows generated from REEBRELZRERE
operating activities 276,530,682 278,083,883
Cash flows (used in)/generated from BREZB(MA)/EEZHETE
investing activities (241,980,691) 29,558,825
Cash flows used in financing activites RIEEEMEZIRERE (93,083,816) (215,662,671)
Net cash (outflow)/inflows Be (Rl RAFE (58,533,825) 91,980,037
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z-=f£%%#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

(b) Puning Huachuangwen Industrial

36. FFIERER &)

(b) BEEAXEX

HKS$
BT
Summarised statement of comprehensive income ZEKREREE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-=F=A=t-HLFE
Revenue Yzs 14,894,992
Profit for the year AEERF 6,596,570
Other comprehensive loss Hitn2HEEE 1,146
Total comprehensive income for the year AEREHKSESE 6,957,716
Profit for the year attributable to NCI FiERE R REE R 1,978,971
Total comprehensive income for the year R ERELAFE ARG AE
attributable to NCI 1,979,315
Summarised statement of financial position BN R E
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=ZfZA=t+-H
Non-current assets ERBEE 254,608
Current assets MEEE 3,129,523,337
Current liabilities MEBE (2,463,810,271)
Net assets BESE 665,967,674
Accumulated non-controlling interests RiEI RS 199,790,303
Summarised statement of cash flows BeRERBE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-_=F=A=1+—-HLEE
Cash flows generated from operating activities KEEBREEZBERE 123,417,952
Cash flows used in investing activities REZHMAZEERE (41,086,090)
Net cash inflows REMAFE 82,331,862
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-=F=AR=+—H

31 March 2023

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEALRS
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the BIREMEHEREMTD R ERESE
consolidated financial statements, the Group had Sh o REBRFRETZEANBEAT
significant related party transactions during the year RHWT -
as follows:
(a) Compensation of key management (a) EEEBEASHH
personnel
The remuneration of directors and other TR ESRHMFTEEEABZ
members of key management personnel BT -

during the year were as follows:

2023 2022
—Eg2-= T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries and other short-term e RHMEHEE R =
monetary benefits 1,980,000 1,845,161
Post-employment benefits BERL 1212 F 36,000 40,023

2,016,000 1,885,184
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 7 12 %

Lease arrangement with Beijing Tian’an
Innovation Technology and Estates Limited

During the prior year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group have entered into several lease
arrangements with Beijing Tian‘an Innovation
Technology and Estates Limited, an entity
which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Chen
Weiwu, a director and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company, for the lease of certain
properties in the PRC at the total cost of
HK$17,854,449, details of which are set out
in note 20(i). Further details of the connected
transactions are set out in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report.

Acquisition of a subsidiary from Mr. Chen
Weiwu, a director of the Company

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group entered into an equity sales and
purchase agreement with Mr. Chen Weiwu,
to acquire the entire issued shares of Reach
Glory Holdings Limited for consideration
comprising convertible bonds in principal
amount of HK$249,150,000 and 534,000,000
consideration shares issued by the Company,
details of which are set out in the note 29(b).

37. BEALTRB (&)

(b)

(c)

RAERRRNABEERATTY
THERHE

BHE-_ZT-_—_F#=A=+—HItZ
BAFE AFEEHIERKRR
MEIEXERARI(HARRIES
FEEERFRERCERZEEZE
BEZER)RHAEMNNPENE
FTOMETIEERERTYE - BRAE
17,854,449 70 - BREEFFIBE RN
MisE20() - BB ER S 2EZ
HBHR AT RESSHREEHA
ER G| —H e

AAAREESRERLERE—B
A F

HE_Z-_ZFZA=+—HIHF
B AEEERER SCERT U RE
BEEWE  UREBWESERERE
RARIZHE BTG - BIEAR
RIEE1T A58 /4 249,150,000 7 7T
2 Al A% (& % 2 534,000,000 A X
B - BREFFBEEAMETE29(0b) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=%=A=+—H

31 March 2023

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. MEREMEXRMWE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net (a) BRETEHAIENELEEEBELE Y
cash generated from operations is as follows: W FEHERAT -
2023 2022
—EC=F T CF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Profit before income tax B AT 1S 250 Al & A 121,214,202 24,770,425
Interest income F B A (254,669) (468,117)
Interest expenses MERX 34,010,779 36,848,887
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ - BERBHEZINE
equipment 2,233,674 2,802,375
Loss on transfer of investment EREREYET EE
properties — 2,927,880
Loss on modification of subleases BRAEKREMHEZRIA
in respect of finance lease SIS EE
receivables — 6,205,268
Loss on termination of lease HIEHEERYZEE
contracts — 4,764,634
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFREEE WS
assets - (1,845,024)
Reversal of impairment loss on FEE R R H AL FIA
trade and other receivables, net BEEERLFRE (5,722,232) —
Reversal of impairment loss on W RN E TR E R IE  REEE
finance lease receivables, net e EIpEa (60,203) —
Fair value loss on investment "EWEZ N EEEIE
properties 22,653,200 11,546,666
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries S B ARz W — (5,407)
Operating cash flows before EEESHIFI 2 LE
working capital changes carried REMELEE
forward 174,074,751 87,547,587
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(a)  Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net
cash generated from operations is as follows:

38. mMEBHERERMT &)

(a)

BRATETHAN G M G ERBEL Y
R FRYENT - (&)

(Continued)

2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-—fF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Operating cash flows before working LEEASEIHII I REHEERE
capital changes brought forward g 174,074,751 87,547,587
Decrease in trade and other receivables B E M E b 78R 291,826,834 53,706,978
Decrease/(increase) in contract costs BHRARED,/(Eh) 7,588,666 (9,394,271)
Decrease/(increase) in completed BEFERTIME
properties held for sale H/ () 434,686,198  (19,579,486)
Decrease/(increase) in finance lease e R E T E IR
receivables w4 m) 13,045,803 (10,288,767
Decrease in restricted cash SR HIIR S E 40,768,711 69,906,413
(Decreasel/increase in trade and e E SR H A FRIE
other payables CRd),/#m (48,108,917) 72,919,672
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities A4 &&ECHL ),/ L0 (506,144,656) 124,820,674
Net cash generated from operations R E L VIS R 407,737,390 369,638,800
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE®EZERERE A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-=F=AR=+—H

31 March 2023

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. MEREMEXRMWZE (2
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETHEEZBBZYHER
financing activities
Lease Bank Convertible
liabilities borrowings bonds Total
HESE BIEE TaRES @zt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT BT
(note 31) (note 27) (note 28)
(Hi#31) (Hig#27) (Hi#28)
As at 1 April 2022 R-E-—4mA-H 539,876,048 99,234,953 — 639,111,001
Cash flows: BERE:
— Repayments — &% — (91,705,822) — (91,705,822)
— Drawdown — & - - - -
— Interest paid — ERFIE (32,333,634) (1,377,994) - (33,711,628)
— Repayment of principal element of — EEMEEEY
lease liabilities reHn (28,933,416) — - (28,933,416)
Total changes from financing cash ~ RERETEZEH
flows pk (61,267,050) (93,083,816) - (154,350,866)
Other changes: Rft2s
— Interest expenses —FER% 32,333,634 827,141 850,004 34,010,779
— Interest expenses capitalised as  — ERLBEXETNEZ
properties under development M 8Fx - - - -
— Increase in lease liabilities from  — EREUHAE/BE
entering into new leases during BEEM
the year 10,760,902 — — 10,760,902
— Decrease in lease liabilities upon  — & |FAHE 7 RE
termination of contracts AERD - - - -
— Issuance of convertible bonds ~ — E{TAARER - - 187,949,336 187,949,336
— Derecognition upon conversion of — EAEEABATARES
convertible bonds by B& T
the bondholder - — (18,515,886 (18,515,886)
— Exchange realignment —ERA% (39,630,320) (6,978,278) — (46,608,598)
Balance at 31 March 2023 WZB-=F=A=1-H
L& 482,073,214 - 170,283,454 652,356,668
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued)

38. mMEBHERERMT &)

(b) METBHEEZEB2Y

RR(E)

Lease Bank Convertible
liabilities borrowings bonds Total
HESE BIEE TaRES @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT BT
(note 31) (note 27) (note 28)
(Hi#31) (Hig#27) (Hi#28)
As at 1 April 2021 RZZE--FWA-A 549,924,707 289,531,436 — 839,456,143
Cash flows: BERE:
— Repayments — & — (225,970,163 — (225,970,163)
— Drawdown — B3 — 26,783,333 — 26,783,333
— Interest paid — BRFIE (34,703,673) (16,352,127) - (571,055,800)
— Repayment of principal element — EEBEEEY
of lease liabilities K&85 (30,652,135) — — (30,652,135)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BEREREZEF
flows pk (65,355,808) (215,538,957 — (280,894,765)
Other changes: Rft2s
— Interest expenses —FISHX 34,701,628 2,147,259 - 36,848,887
— Interest expenses capitalised as  — EAR(LEEEDNE L
properties under development iR 2,045 14,204,868 - 14,206,913
— Increase in lease liabilities from  — FMFIUHEE/HE
entering into new leases during BEEM
the year 17,854,449 - - 17,854,449
— Decrease in lease liabilities upon  — & |FAHE 7 RE
termination of contracts AEHD (19,855,803 — — (19,855,803
— Issuance of convertible bonds ~ — E{TAARES - - - -
— Derecognition upon conversion — — EEEHHABRIARES
of convertible bonds by KR LR
the bondholder - — — -
— Exchange realignment —ERA% 22,604,830 8,890,347 — 31,495,177
Balance at 31 March 2022 W-B--F=A=1-H
L% 539,876,048 99,234,953 — 639,111,001
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B f& 7 1 Bk 5 1R 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENT

Operating leases — Lessor

The Group sub-leases its investment properties
in the PRC under operating leases. Sub-leases of
properties in the PRC usually run for one to six
years (2022: one to six years). Lease payments are
usually negotiated to reflect market rentals. None
of the lease includes contingent rentals.

The minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

39.

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

RERERH
mERE — HEA

AEBRBEEHESHERFE K
BEYE - RPESAMEZHOBEE B
—ERE(ZEZ_F: —FEXF)- M
ENFzETRTRETERS - #IE
BYORESAES -

RETARHEEEME 2 REREHEE
FIBAT

2023 2022
—E-= =

HK$ HK$

BT BT

25,222,129 22,279,362

19,892,808 32,811,481
- 740,146

Not later than one year TER—F

Later than one year and not later than BiE—FETNEREF
five years

More than five year Jidp ik

45,114,937 55,830,989
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the respective reporting dates, the contingent
liabilities of the Group were as follows:

. HREE

RERSAH AEEZRABED

—F .
2023 2022
—EC-=HE —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Guarantees granted to financial institutions RERMEBNERET

on behalf of purchasers of property units

TRBEER

1,211,274,630 415,660,013

The Group arranges with various domestic banks
in the PRC to provide loan and mortgage facilities
to purchasers of its properties prior to the transfer
of building ownership certificate. In line with the
consumer banking practices in the PRC, these
banks require the Group to provide guarantees
in respect of these loans including the principal,
interest and other incidental costs. If a purchaser
defaults on loan repayment, the relevant mortgagee
bank is entitled to deduct the amount repayable
from the restricted cash account. These guarantees
would be released by the banks upon the receipt by
the banks of the building ownership certificates of
the respective properties when the certificate have
been issued by the relevant authorities.

The directors consider that it is not probable for
the Group to sustain a loss under these guarantees
as during the period of these guarantees, the
Group can take over the ownerships of the related
properties under default and sell the properties
at prices which are well above the amounts paid/
payable by the Group to the banks under the
guarantees, accordingly no provision for the
guarantees has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HElE & EkA R 2 A

REREEMERERN  AEEZHZ
AP EBEARITAEMEERRERER
RZBEmE - KBRTBEEEERTE
Bl ZEROTERAEERZEER
(BREAE - FEREMEEKAR)RRH
ER-HMEREREEENR - RIHERR
BRITAEEBXRHRSEPIEAT
BEZEHE - BERSRITINBEERR
LRERRINEENENEEMAESE
% RERITHERZFER

EERR AKRETARBEERARSE
RMRZEX  FRRSARERNZSE
RURAAEZOBERL T ERERBYMED
B  YRERRARBEREZEE
REN/ENRITHRIBENBERLEZSE
W FHit - YEREEMBERERAR
A EERATIR AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amount
and fair value of financial assets and liabilities as
defined in note 4(h) to the consolidated financial

—E-=%=A=+—H
31 March 2023

1. BERE D M BEER M

BEHRE

TRETFAMBRRM T AN FTRE
ZHBEERABRZKEERRFE
18 :

statements:
2023 2022
—E-= —EF -
HK$ HK$
B BT
Financial assets HBEE
Financial assets at amortised cost WK AT 2N K EE
— Financial assets included in trade — st AJEWE R R E A
and other receivables NIEMMEEE 261,831,440 96,538,831
— Finance lease receivables — R ERERE 279,318,304 315,511,842
— Amount due from a director — B —FREEFIE - 77,800
— Amounts due from related parties — FEULEAE A + 518 1,735 1,916
— Cash and bank balances — RE RIRITHEH 413,280,678 192,855,112
954,432,157 604,985,501
Financial liabilities R S =R

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IZE KA EMNTEAE

— Trade and other payables — ENER R E M IS 307,764,174 102,715,169
— Amounts due to non-controlling — KB AR 2 IR

shareholders of subsidiaries A% 5 R IE 12,145,486 35,817,817

— Bank borrowings — IRITEE - 99,234,953

— Convertible bonds — AR EH 170,283,454 —

— Lease liabilities — HEaE 482,073,214 539,876,048

972,266,328 777,643,987

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values. The
fair value of these financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

EZRANEE VB RRIZE KA
BRI EERMBREZREERER
NFEERSE  HEHBEERVBEA
BEZRFEBEIRE-REIEERA
ARTEREREDTETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from its equity investment
in other entities.

Policy for managing these risks is set by the Board
following recommendations from the chief financial
officer. Certain risks are managed centrally, while
others are managed locally following guidelines
communicated from the management. The policy
for each of the above risks is described in more
detail below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties
will default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group exposes to credit risk from trade,
other and loan receivables and finance lease
receivables. The Group has adopted a credit
policy to monitor and mitigate credit risk
arising from trade debtors. Credit limit is
regularly reviewed and approved by head of
credit control. The Group assesses credit risk
based on customers’ past due records, trading
history, financial conditions, credit ratings
and taken into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. Customers with balances more than
a reasonable period of past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted.

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
for the balance of trade receivables. However,
the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debts at
the end of reporting period to ensure that
adequate loss allowances are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

T

I

T
]

FF 75 L B ' B

RAKREZ AREBBRETEL Z AR
BREEERR - RBESRR - FMXE
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E R AR EREL ZRAERR

e
R

o

EFERBEVBBE EZRHEEEZ
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all of the trade
receivables balances. As at 31 March
2023 and 2022, the loss allowance for
trade receivables was determined in the
provision matrix on the basis of aging
analysis by invoice date as disclosed
(note 22). The expected credit losses
below also incorporated forward-looking
information and groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e. by geographical region,
customer type and rating, and product
or service type) in calculation. The
calculation also reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the
reporting date. The expected credit
loss rate for the trade receivables
within 90 days is 0.1% (2022: 0.1%)
and no provision of expected credit
loss allowance for trade receivables
is recognised for the year as the loss
allowance is considered insignificant
(2022: No provision of expected credit
losses for trade receivables was
recognised).

Finance lease receivables

The loss allowance of finance lease
receivables is calculated under
12-months ECL calculation classified
as stage 1 of ECL model. An average
0.3% (2022: 0.3%) expected credit loss
rate is used by the management for
calculating the ECL allowance of the
balance classified as stage 1 ECL model
as the management considered the
credit-impaired risk is low. The reversal
of expected credit loss allowance of
HK$60,203 is recognised for the year
(2022: No expected credit loss allowance
was recognised).

e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-==A=+—H
31 March 2023

RS EEE)

(a) FERBRE)

(a)

(b)
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—EZ=F=A=+—H

31 March 2023

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Other financial assets

The loss allowance of other receivables
and amounts due from related parties
are calculated under 12-months ECL
calculation classified as stage 1 of ECL
model. An average 0.3% (2022: 0.3%)
expected credit loss rate is used by the
management for calculating the ECL
allowance of the balance classified as
stage 1 ECL model as the management
considered the credit-impaired risk is low.
Based on the assessment performed
by the management, the reversal of
expected credit loss allowance of
HK$5,722,232 is recognised for the year
(2022: No expected credit loss allowance
was recognised).

The credit risk on bank balances and
cash is limited because they are placed
with reputable banks with external credit
rating of at least A1 assigned by an
international credit-rating agency.

The Group is not exposed to concentration
of credit risk. Further analysis of credit
risk associated with trade and other
receivables is set out in note 22.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to ensure that there

are adequate funds to meet commitments

associated with its financial liabilities. Cash
flows of the Group are closely monitored by
senior management on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=%=A=+—H

31 March 2023

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. BIBREKREE &)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FBESRAME)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities A BEZANEBEBERNT ¢

are shown as below:

Repayable
REEE
More than More than Total
Within Tyearbut 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
it it &8
-ERg -8 méEfE AERRE
REX SRWE PREE BRLE RESE K
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A1 A1 A1 A1 A1 A1
2023 - St 3
Non-derivatives: ¥k
Trade and other payables ENEHRA0RE 307,764,174 - - - 307,764,174 307,764,174
Amounts due to non- ENHBARZ
controlling shareholders of ~ JHERIREZUE
subsidiaries 12,145,486 - - - 12,145,486 12,145,486
Bank horrowings BkE - - - - - -
Convertible bonds kG - - - 249,150,000 249,150,000 170,283,454
Lease liabilities fHEeE 92,908,007 69,147,109 193,649,808 293,327,553 649,032,477 482,073,214
412,817,667 69,147,109 193,649,808 542,477,553 1,218,092,137 972,266,328
2022 CECCE
Non-derivatives: ¥4
Trade and other payables ERNEHRREMTE 102715169 — — — 102,715,169 102,715,169
Amounts due to non- ENHBARZ
controlling shareholders of ~ JHERIREZE
subsidiaries 35,817,817 — — — 35,817,817 35,817,817
Bank borrowings BkE 106,498,299 — — — 106,498,299 99,234,953
Convertible bonds ARER - - - - - -
Lease liabilities fgafk 91,756,546 71,198,680 222,982,124 362,892,120  748,829470 539,876,048

336,787,831 71198680 222,982,124 362,892,120 993,860,785 777,643,987
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mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

42. BBREAKRERE (&)

(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) RIZ=EBS
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest HRRRITESR I BIRITERZIR
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing THBMNEEE) - NEE@mEIRS
market interest rate on bank balances and mEFERR -
variable-rate bank loans.
The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk AREENEE FEEHEIRIFHFR
which relates primarily to its cash and cash FFEZRe RIS EMEIER MIRTT
equivalents and bank borrowings which are EEFBEZMNERR - NEEB /T
at floating rates. The Group currently does W\ AFE A HTA T B A KL R
not use any derivative contracts to hedge KE - A - BIEBEBEEZEM
the interest rate risk. However, management ZREPERFERRRE
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
Interest rate profile FIFAE
The following table details interest rates TRHAVANEEEEE T EFEE
analysis that management of the Group 98 R DM o
evaluates the interest rate risk.
2023 2022
—EC=E g
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$ rate (%) HK$
EBFZE(%) Br EEFE(%) BT
Financial assets HBEE
Fixed-rate financial assets: ERUKEE
— Finance lease receivables — ERRERENE 9.42% 279,318,304 931% 315,511,842
Floating-rate financial assets: FENKAE
— Cash and bank balances — R RS 0.06% 413,280,678 0.24% 192,855,112
Financial liabilities BEEE
Fixed-rate financial liabilities: EEMBAE:
— Bank borrowings — RITEE - - 7.24% 99,234,983
— Convertible bonds — AR ES 0.50% 170,283,454 - -
— Lease liabilities —HEaRE 6.71% 482,073,214 6.42% 539,876,048
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZERER A 7



e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the results after tax in response to
reasonably possible changes in interest rate
to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of reporting period. In determining
the effect on results after tax on the next
accounting period until next end of reporting
period, management of the Group assumes
that the change in interest rate had occurred
at the end of reporting period and all other
variables remain constant. There is no change
in the methods and assumptions used in 2023
and 2022.

—E-==A=+—H
31 March 2023

R RER )
(c) RIEREM(E)
SBE I

TRAEBTRIE AR EE Y
REEAZERER KSR
AREEEMEE ZHAOEE) - INE
TEEBRBEZEEN T — A2 EME
HE T EREHRCHER - K
SEEEERIFERREHRE
KNERMBEREMEHERITE -
RZEZ=FR_FT_FHMEH
ZIERBRER EEE -

2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-—
Group's Group's
profit for profit for
the year the year
to be to be
increased/ increased/
(decreased) (decreased)
by by
£8z £EZ
REERAN AFEEF
#hnCRL) #EnCRd)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Increase by 100 basis points HEHN 100 {E £ 2, 4,132,807 1,928,551
Decrease by 100 basis points A 100 {E &2 (4,132,807) (1,928,551)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
the PRC with most of the transactions settled
in their respective functional currencies in
which the group entities operate. Therefore,
the Group does not have significant exposure
to risk resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.

(d)

BRRAR

AEBETEREFBNTEEE K
MARGHNEERBELEN
ZBEBMEEREHE - At - A%
= mASNEER BB MARZEKR
[\ -

I
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-=F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March 2023

43. COMPANY’'S STATEMENT OF

43. DB 2R &R

R-ZF-—=ZF=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= =
Notes HK$ HK$
it BT BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RETBRE 2 753,659,762 208,566,097
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUZHIE A B FIE 19,141,257 108,155,018
Other receivables H fth pE Ui Fh1B 10,301 2,009,460
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEER 2,775,355 684,293
Total current assets MEEELE 21,926,913 110,848,771
Total assets EEHAE 775,586,675 319,414,868
Liabilities 88
Current liabilities REIBE
Other payables E A ERT 5RIE 17,900,525 —
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHE 2~ R FUA 42,230,024 95,370,121
Total current liabilities B REARE 60,130,549 95,370,121
Net current (liabilities)/assets 7@ (Aff) "&EFE (38,203,636) 15,478,650
Total assets less current EELABRABERS
liabilities 715,456,126 224,044,747
Non-current liabilities *kRBAS
Convertible bonds AR (E 170,283,454 —
Total liabilities BEHAE 230,414,003 95,370,121
NET ASSETS EEFE 545,172,672 224,044,747
Capital and reserves BAREHE
Share capital P& 7N 32 171,423,328 115,443,328
Reserves [ 33 373,749,344 108,601,419
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 545,172,672 224,044,747

The Company’s statement of financial position were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on
29 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chen Weiwu
BRZE
Chairman

FE

ARRBZMBRRAERN —FE_=5F<A
“thREE=SHAERKETE I
HTIIAITHREREZTERE

Jiang Ruowenhao
IENE
Executive Director

BITEFE



mEMBERRHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-=%=A=+—H

31 March 2023

44. SUBSIDIARIES 44. B2 T
R-—F-=#=FA=+—-0 TEWBE
ARZFIRMT

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries
as at 31 March 2023.

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name husiness structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B FRERKS  HRAILE TERBREENE BEARA/BRERER FalERERAM
directly indirectly
BB B
BoRen Culture Development Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of USS1 100.0 -
company in the PRC
B ERERAR EREFAE  EBRLEE WRERSRERR 1R T ERR
Shiny Top Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Money lending business 10,000 ordinary share of - 100.0
company in Hong Kong HK$10,000
BEARAH BREfFAA BE RERUSHERE 10,0008 10,0003 7.2 &k
Zhong Run Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing - - 100.0
company business in the PRC
hE EREAAD  HE MERENEIRER
Great Regal Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding and 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 1000
company property development
business in Hong Kong
ERBRAT EREfRE AE MERNSREBRRDE  1RIBTZERR
BRER
Beijing Mingchuang Business Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing - - 1000
Management Co., Ltd company business in the PRC
FREHEEEERRAT EREFAE  #E MEERENEAEER
Topper Genius Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding in the PRC 10,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company US$10,000
L2 RREEAT  HERLES RREESRERR 10,0008 10,000 %72 £k
Huachuangwen Land’ Limited liability ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 - 90.0
company business in the PRC
EEEH RREELR 48 RREUENEIRER AEH10,000,0007
Puning Huachuangwen Industrial Limited liability ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 - 700
company business in the PRC
EEZENESR EREAAR  HE MERENFRRER ARE50,000,0007
*  For identification only *  (E M)
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REMBERRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—EZ=F=A=+—H

31 March 2023

44. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 44, BT (&)
Notes: Biat -
(a)  None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt (a) BEMBIATRNFERNNERBEITENM

securities during the year or at the end of the year. BES

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the ITREEEERAUNFEXREELE
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, TEYSBKAEEERLPEEFEZ
principally affected the results for the year or RRRIMEAR - EHRRY L E
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BRARIZHBESERBRILE °

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

220 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERBERAR
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